BETWEEN TEMPORARY PROTECTION AND INTEGRATION: MONOLINGUAL EDUCATION POLICIES FOR SYRIAN REFUGEE CHILDREN IN TURKEY

by

Gülşah TÜRK

Submitted to

Central European University

Department of Nationalism Studies

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts

Supervisors:

Luca Váradi

Violetta Zentai

Budapest, Hungary
2020

Abstract

Since 2011 more than 3 million people from Syria have taken refuge in Turkey. As of January 2020, there are 1 million school-aged Syrian children out of which more than 600 thousand receive education. Until 2016, most students were enrolled in Temporary Education Centers (TECs), which provided education in Arabic and followed an altered Syrian curriculum. While some of these TECs remain open, the policy since 2016 is to enroll 1st, 5th, and 9th graders into public schools, where medium of instruction is Turkish. Considering the controversial nature of linguistic diversity in the Turkish education system and the global and local political repercussions of the forced mobility from Syria, this research has aimed to analyze the discourse of the language policies in the education of refugee children to reveal their rationale and possible implications. A discourse-oriented analysis of policy texts and statements by policy actors has revealed that even though the discourse around temporariness which dominated the earlier policy making has later shifted into one of integration as a result of the changes in context, the underlying monolingual ideologies have remained constant and manifested themselves through both discourses. It has also been concluded that any policy decision not acknowledging the linguistic diversity in education will lead to linguistic and thus social inequality for the refugee children.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor Luca Váradi for all her support and guidance throughout this difficult period and for her valuable comments. I am also grateful to Violetta Zentai for her helpful comments and suggestions.

I am indebted to my parents and my sister who have always been there for me. I know I can always turn to them when I struggle.

I should finally thank Türker without whom I would not be able to come to CEU in the first place and whose emotional support means a lot to me.

Table of contents

Introduction	1
Chapter 1 – Literature Review	6
1.1 An overview of language policy and planning literature	6
1.2 An overview of approaches to policy	11
1.3 Studies on the education policies for Syrian refugee children in Turkey	15
Chapter 2 – Context	21
2.1 Language policies in Turkey since the Late Ottoman Empire	21
2.2 Migration from Syria to Turkey since 2011 – global and local political context	25
2.3 Timeline of education policies for the refugee children in Turkey since 2011	28
Chapter 3 – Methodology	32
Chapter 4 – The Policy Analysis	38
4.1 Creating categories: How does policy frame the people, mobility, and status?	38
4.2 Language ideologies and linguistic inequality in education	45
4.3 'Integration' and language	53
4.4 Conclusion of the Analysis	59
Conclusion	60
References	63

List of Abbreviations

MoNE: Ministry of National Education

TEC: Temporary Education Center

PIKTES: Promoting Integration of Syrian Kids into Turkish Education System

LFIP: Law on Foreigners and International Protection

DEMA (AFAD): Disaster and Emergency Management Authority

FRIT: Facility for Refugees in Turkey

MEEM: Migration and Emergency Education Management

DGMM: Directorate General of Migration Management

Introduction

The number of people who have taken refuge in Turkey since the start of the Syrian civil war in 2011 is over 3 million. More than 1 million of this population were school aged children in 2019 (Akyuz 2018). Certain political considerations have affected how the issue of schooling for these children have been handled. As a result of the geographical limitation Turkey maintains in the 1951 Geneva Convention, which allows it to grant refugee status only to those of European origin, Syrian population in Turkey was given the status of temporary protection (Baban, Ilcan, and Rygiel 2017). This status has determined the nature of policy making as well.

There have been roughly three phases regarding the policy decisions so far. In the first phase until 2016, education was provided with the initiatives of civil society organizations in Temporary Education Centers (TECs). They followed a slightly altered Syrian curriculum in Arabic and included Turkish classes. In the second phase, the government announced that TECs were to be closed down by 2020 and all students starting 1st, 5th, or 9th grade were to be registered in public schools, where medium of instruction is Turkish. This was followed by the EU-funded project called 'Promoting the Integration of Syrian Children into Turkish Education System' in 2016. The following phase continues as TECs are in the process of being closed down and Integration Classes are being opened in all public schools with refugee students. As of 2018, there were 518,105 Syrian children in public schools (MoNE 2018). Considering the role of language in the nation building process in Turkey, it is worth looking into the language policies in the education of refugee children and the shifts thereof to understand their rationale.

Research on these education policies conclude that access to education is below country average (Bircan and Sunata 2015; Uyan-Semerci and Erdoğan 2018); however, even access to schooling does not lead to meaningful participation in education. Several studies, whether they

analyze the policies themselves or the opinions of teachers, principals and parents, show that factors such as lack of resources, inefficient teacher training, and language barrier as well as the public discourse on refugees and teachers' attitudes hinder children's equal access to the education provided (Arar, Örücü, and Ak Küçükçayir 2020; Karsli-Calamak and Kilinc 2019; Taskin and Erdemli 2018; Karaman 2018; Sülükçü and Savaş 2018; Crul et al. 2019; McCarthy 2018; Balkar, Şahin, and Babahan 2016; Çelik and İçduygu 2019; Unutulmaz 2019). Most studies also highlight the fact that the policy making in education has been highly intertwined with the political context.

There is no study specifically analyzing the decisions related to language in the education of Syrian children even though language barrier is cited as an important factor impeding education in the abovementioned studies. The issue of diverse linguistic backgrounds in the monolingual Turkish education system is, in fact, not new. Since the foundation of the Republic of Turkey, whose ideological roots date back to the Ottoman modernization at the end of the 19th century, language has been a tool in the nation-building efforts. Monolingual Turkish education and strict policies against other languages have worked to monolingualize the multilingual population. Only through its aspirations to be an EU-member state in the early 2000s, Turkish state introduced certain regulations that led to a recognition of multilingualism in the society and Ministry of National Education started offering classes for various languages spoken by Turkish citizens. However, this public recognition has not had much material consequences with regards to the linguistic status quo and particularly the monolingual ideology.

With this background, the case of refugee children whose first language is not Turkish is both familiar and at the same time unique. While some of the policies regarding language such as providing Arabic and Turkish language support are a diversion from the tradition of denying students' linguistic backgrounds, traces of familiar responses to bi/multilingualism could still

be found in the policy decisions. This tension between the monolingual tradition and the recognition of different linguistic backgrounds is worth analyzing since it might help to see whether these historically embedded language ideologies could again lead to linguistic inequalities in this new context and whether the subtleties of the context such as its embeddedness in the global politics influence the decision making.

This research does not take policy as a neutral device for problem solving but rather follows the critical approaches to policy. Therefore, the policy will be treated as a "practice of power" (Levinson, Sutton, and Winstead 2009) and as a text and a discourse shaping how the reality is perceived. It is also embedded in not only the national/local but also the global context and feeds off various texts and discourses. Particularly language policy is a mechanism "determin[ing] who has access to political power and economic resources" (Tollefson 1991) through language use and thus (re)producing inequalities. Monolingual ideologies in language in education policies are one such area in which we can observe these power dynamics, and the language policies in migration contexts are the recent manifestations of this mechanism (see, for example, Duchêne, Moyer, and Roberts 2013; Panagiotopoulou and Rosen 2018).

Following this conceptual framework and to fill the gap in the critical studies on language policies in Turkey, this research will analyze the language-in-education policies for Syrian refugee children in Turkey between 2011 and 2019. Even though these children are not legally recognized as refugees but as children under temporary protection, the term refugee will be preferred when referring to them since the act of taking refuge describes their condition better than the power laden term of temporary protection. The purpose of this study is twofold. First, it aims to reveal how the policy decisions as well as the policy discourse regarding the issue of language in the education for children from Syria in Turkey have been shaped by the global and national context. Then, it will analyze the policy discourse in this context to demonstrate

how the representations of people, events, and various phenomena such as human mobility, education, and integration could lead to linguistic and social inequalities.

The research will benefit from the principles of historical-structural, discourse-oriented, and interpretive policy analysis literatures; however, the primary method of analysis will be Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA) and the Discourse-Historical Approach (DHA). As contextualization is a crucial part of this approach, the websites of and documents from EU commission and the EU Council as well as UNHCR, news reports from Turkey, and documents related to various policy areas such as migration and labor, and earlier policy documents related to language and education will be used.

As the primary data, various policy-related documents between 2011-2019 such as laws, regulations, circulars, and strategic plans from the Ministry of National Education, reports from the General Directorate of Migration Management and Migration and Emergency Education Management, and the website of the PIKTES project will be analyzed. These will be accessed through the legislation database of Turkey (mevzuat.gov.tr) as well as through the websites of relevant agencies. Data on the speeches, statements, and acts of policy relevant actors such as the President, Ministers of National Education, Internal Affairs, and Foreign Relations, and bureaucrats working in the General Directorate of Migration Management, Migration and Emergency Education Management, and the PIKTES project will be gathered from news reports and from previous research.

Following this introductory chapter, the second chapter will provide a conceptual framework on policy studies and language policy and planning and then outline the research on the education policies for Syrian refugee children in Turkey. The following chapter will summarize the key events related to the human mobility from Syria since the civil war began and present the timeline of policies regarding the education of the refugee children. This context chapter

will also briefly depict the language regime in Turkey starting from relevant events in the Late Ottoman Empire. After providing the historical background, the methodology chapter will both introduce the rationale behind the methods of analysis and describe the data to be analyzed. This will be followed by the detailed chronological and thematic analysis of the policies under the sections related to migration, integration, and monolingual ideologies. These sections will show the unfolding of the discourse in the policy related texts through various discursive strategies and also the shifts in the discourse. These thematic sections will also briefly comment on the implications of these policies. The conclusion chapter will summarize the important findings and make suggestions for future research.

Chapter 1 – Literature Review

As briefly described in the introductory chapter, this research mainly aims to understand and analyze the power relations within the education policies aiming Syrian refugee children in Turkey and the role of language in those policies. Therefore, this chapter aims to outline the approaches to the study of policy and language policy in the literature to illuminate possible areas of analysis. The final section, which summarizes the research on the education policies for refugee children, will point to any gaps and questions untouched and thus will help to see how this research could possibly address them.

1.1 An overview of language policy and planning literature

The role of language in nation building projects and how these projects entailed a certain understanding of modernization is a core issue in the classic works of nationalism (Anderson 1983; Hobsbawm 1992), and language policy and planning was one of the tools for managing the nation's language(s) and as a result a tool for the distribution of power and resources. Bauman and Briggs (2003) expose in their book *Voices of Modernity* how modern thinkers discursively shaped specific understandings of what language is and whose linguistic practices are legitimate and how this made modernity and modern thought flourish while at the same time creating all kinds of inequalities for those who did not fit the criteria set by such rational thought.

Even though these explicit and implicit ways of planning languages had existed as early as seventeenth century, the academic discipline of language policy and planning (LPP) appeared after 1960s (Tollefson and Pérez-Milans 2018). The early period of LPP aimed at finding solutions to practical problems in societies, particularly focusing on nation states and nation building processes. (Fishman 1973; 1991; Fishman, Ferguson, and Dasgupta 1968). Language

planning essentially included acquisition, corpus, and status planning, that is, how a language will be learnt, how the language structure should be, and what status should various languages have within a country (3). This traditional approach to LPP shares many similarities to the early period of policy studies in that it is also positivistic and problem-oriented.

As various approaches influenced by critical theory emerged in the policy literature, critical approaches to LPP also appeared in the 90s. Tollefson (1991) in his book *Planning language*, *planning inequality* defines language policy as a mechanism "determin[ing] who has access to political power and economic resources" and "by which dominant groups establish hegemony in language use" (16). The approach he proposes is historical-structural, which analyzes policies from a historical perspective and focuses on power and inequality. Another line of scholars has since focused on the effects of monolingual language policies, particularly in education, and their relevance for bilingualism/multilingualism (Baker 2011; Cummins 1984; 1986; Hornberger 1998; Skutnabb-Kangas et al. 2009). Skutnabb-Kangas (2000), for instance, uses the term 'linguicism' (akin to racism) leading to 'linguicide' to underline the effects of language policies for minority languages. These studies are relevant for the current study because they point out to the fact that language policies determine which languages could be used in social life and where. This creates linguistic hierarchies and puts people with a different language background at a disadvantage.

Discourse or discourse-oriented approach to LPP makes use of the methods of Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA) and is built on the interpretive and postpositivist approaches to policy analysis (Barakos and W. Unger 2016) that the previous section elaborated on. As those approaches also claim, the main premise of discursive approach to LPP is that "policy meaning is discursively constructed" and it does not only reside within the policy text but also "constructed in newspapers and TV reports, at public hearings, in academic papers, at protests,

on online media, and so on" (Barakos and W. Unger 2016, 63). The aim is to uncover how "language ideologies and discourses interact with LPP processes" (21).

Hult (2004; 2005), for instance, analyzes Swedish language policy documents from a historical perspective to map out main discourses about minority languages, and the position of Swedish in relation to English. He claims that "how relationships among different languages are reflected in policy documents [...] brings to light ideologies about those languages and their users" (Hult 2010, 5). Through Discourse-Historical Approach (DHA), Krzyżanowski and Wodak (2011) reveal how the language and multilingualism policies of EU were constructed under the influence of the macro-strategies of EU in the 2000-2010 period. Adopting the same approach, Wodak and Boukala (2015) look into EU policies on language and migration and how these influence the representation of migrants and their linguistic integration in Austria and Greece by functioning as gate-keepers. In terms of language in education policies, Chang-Bacon's (2020) study provides useful insight by analyzing the discourse around English immersion programs in the US and how monolingual language ideologies are reproduced by "constructing monolingual pedagogies as the 'norm', even for multilingual students" (10).

Even though it is not necessarily a part of LPP literature, the concept of language ideologies is crucial for a discursive analysis of language policies as the study of Chang-Bacon (2020) also demonstrates. Research on language ideologies is a part of linguistic anthropology field and mainly adopts ethnographic methods while these could be complemented by discourse analysis. Language ideologies can be defined as beliefs about languages, language users and their linguistic practices, which function as a legitimation and rationalization of language hierarchies (Woolard and Schieffelin 1994; Schieffelin, Woolard, and Kroskrity 1998; Kroskrity 2000). Language ideologies are highly relevant in language policy analysis since much of the discourse on languages is deeply rooted language ideologies.

Monolingual ideologies are probably the most well-known ones with one nation-one language equation being a *sine qua non* of nationalist thought. Not only nation states sculpted monolingual nations out of multilingual populations, but they have also instilled monolingualism as the norm in societies. Heller (1995) calls this the "monolingualizing tendencies" of states (374). Accordingly, Woolard and Schieffelin (1994) define language planning as "a discourse on language in civic and human life" and explain how seemingly neutral and scientific planning processes such as language standardization and orthography are ideological processes. While language standardization is linked to the ideology of purism, which was shaped through the ideas of rationality in modernist thought (Bauman and Briggs 2003), discussions on orthography are more often than not symbolic negotiations of nationhood. Such discussions on language, then, are rarely about language per se but are rather ways to "create and legitimize social hierarchies" (Blackledge 2000).

Along with these methodological and theoretical developments in the literature, certain thematic areas have also gained prominence since the 90s. The linguistic diversity related to human mobility is one such area, which is relevant for this study as well. One oft-cited concept has been 'superdiversity' (Vertovec 2007), which denotes the "diversification of diversity" among migrants. In this article in which he focuses on the British experience, Vertovec (2007) claims not only there are multitude of migrant groups in urban centers but they are also highly diversified in terms of migration experiences and statuses as well as, for instance, in languages and religions. Therefore, he argues, such superdiversity has implications for both academic research and policy making.

However, not all research on language policies and mobility is based on this concept. In their edited book *Language*, *migration and social inequalities* Duchêne et al. (2013) draw attention to the various ways language functions as a control and gatekeeping mechanism and a tool for

inclusion and exclusion for migrants. For instance, the chapter by Martín Rojo (2013) shows how pedagogical practices of teachers at schools in Madrid render migrant children's linguistic capabilities useless. Similar cases are reported from other migration contexts as well. The ethnographic study by Panagiotopoulou and Rosen (2018) analyzes the language policies in a preparatory class in Cologne, Germany where refugee children from several countries are given German as a second language classes. They find that the integration aim is realized through a German-only policy, which the teachers unquestioningly reproduce in their classes and deny their students the opportunities to use other languages. With a slightly different approach, Pujolar (2010) takes into account both the national level shifts in language policies and also the experiences of migrants in language education in Catalonia. He argues that the discourse of "language as national symbol" has lost its legitimacy with increasing immigration and turned into "language as a means to social cohesion" (230). Interestingly, he also finds out that many Catalan speakers promote the teaching of Spanish to immigrants rather than Catalan since Catalan-speaking immigrants would mean competition over resources for them. Despite reporting from different localities and contexts, these studies all show that language policies and practices in education are motivated by power struggles and lead to the (re)production of language hierarchies rather than aiming language learning and integration.

Inequality created through language policies, particularly through the monolingual ideologies deeply embedded in education policies even in multilingual settings, has been one of the research foci of critical LPP literature. Once mostly studied in minority language contexts, this issue is once more relevant in the education of migrant and refugee children. Instead of opting for a historical-structural, discourse-oriented, or ethnographic approach, more studies are now making use of more than one methodology. While this research will be based on a "close textual, contextual, and sociohistorical analysis of language policies" (Barakos and W. Unger 2016, 13), this will be complemented by ethnographic data from secondary sources as well.

1.2 An overview of approaches to policy

Following a theoretical framework on language policy underlining that it is important to critically think about LPP processes since they regulate the access to resources through language use and thus lead to linguistic and social injustices, this section will summarize different conceptualizations of policy in the literature by defining what policy is, what makes the policy, what policy does, and how to study policy. Through an overview of what it means to study policy critically, this section aims to show why such an approach to policy analysis is important.

In the last couple of decades, there have been different approaches to policy analysis as opposed to the traditional approach which adopts positivistic methods and treats policy as "value-neutral" (Regmi 2019, 60) and as a "linear process of 'problem identification', 'formulation of solutions', 'implementation' and 'evaluation'" (Wright and Shore 2003, 24). Therefore, at the end of this process policy is seen "as a finished object" (Clarke et al. 2015, 2). In this approach, the aim is to find generalizable outcomes about the best ways to solve problems and to access the objective reality. The following approaches which are defined as critical, interpretive, discursive, or anthropological oppose this neutrality and the objectivity claim. Policy processes are taken to be "expressive of meaning(s), including at times individual and collective identity" (Yanow 2000). Therefore, they are not one-size-fits-all solutions but rather highly context-dependent.

Critical approaches treat policies as a practice of power and are mainly influenced by Gramscian and Foucauldian concepts such as hegemony and governmentality (Levinson, Sutton, and Winstead 2009). Policies are hegemonic discourses because they make normative claims which "present a particular way of defining a problem and its solution, as if these were the only ones possible" (Wright and Shore 2003, 15) and thus regulate social relations and

order. They are also related to the notion of governmentality because through their discourse they construct subjects, that is, they shape the agency of individuals and lead them to "construct themselves, their conduct and their social relations as free individuals" and "contribute, not necessarily consciously, to a government's model of social order" (Wright and Shore 2003, 17).

Policy is defined both as a text and a discourse (Ball 1993). It is a text, in the sense that it is composed of meanings reflecting its sociopolitical and historical context. It is also a discourse since through its language it produces a kind of knowledge which determines how an issue at hand is understood and talked about. Therefore, Wright et al (2003) claim that "policy language and discourse [...] provides a key to analysing the architecture of modern power relations" (22). Then, language is a particularly important element in analyzing policy because it is through language that the policy means and does something. For the policy could make use of a seemingly neutral and rational language to conceal its political nature (Wright and Shore 2003; Levinson, Sutton, and Winstead 2009; Clarke et al. 2015), it presents certain actions as common sense and renders alternative ways of thinking and being unimaginable.

Particularly in education, a policy area that is highly related to the workings of the social order and through which social inequalities could be reproduced, how this common sense is presented matters even more (Levinson, Sutton, and Winstead 2009). In contexts where education is strictly centralized, "educational policies" could "set discursive boundaries on what is considered educationally feasible or normal" (Johnson 2009) and how the policy frames certain phenomena could easily limit and shape how people, such as teachers, perceive the issue. Therefore, even when one makes use of other methodologies to understand the impact of a certain policy, the discourse of the policy would be an inseparable part of the analysis.

If these explanations of what policy is could help us see what policy does, then, we can say that it "classif[ies]" and "regulate[s]" (Shore, Wright, and Però 2011, 9) and thus "defines reality",

"orders behavior", and "allocates resources accordingly" (Levinson, Sutton, and Winstead 2009, 770). It is clear that a certain policy does not only have an effect on the specific realm it is seemingly aimed for but rather has implications for various aspects of social life be it "economic, legal, cultural" or "moral" (Wright and Shore 2003, 18).

In their first book outlining the field of the anthropology of policy, Shore and Wright (2003) approach policies as "organizing principles of society" and "cultural texts". Similar to any other cultural object, they carry certain meanings for the society because they "encapsulate the entire history and culture of the society that generated them" (Wright and Shore 2003, 18) and they also "reflect the rationality and assumptions prevalent at the time of their creation" (Shore, Wright, and Però 2011, 10). However, it is also crucial to take into consideration the influence of globalization and realize that the meanings and "discourses embedded in policy texts are no longer located simply in the national space" (Regmi 2019, 65). The concept of assemblage is commonly used in the literature to account for the multitude of elements, both local and global, that make up the policy such as different agents (e.g. politicians, practitioners, etc.), places (e.g. cities, schools, etc.), objects (e.g. a new technology, a building, etc.), and other texts and discourses (e.g. legal texts, policy texts, public discourses, scientific discourses, etc.) (Clarke et al. 2015). The policies, then, are embedded within the cultural worlds and historical trajectories of societies but are also increasingly a part of global network of meanings and discourses.

As policies are assembled from a variety of elements and processes covering a wide scope, Ball (1993) rejects the "possibility of successful single theory explanations" and suggests using "a toolbox of diverse concepts and theories" (11). As mentioned earlier, policy can be defined as meaning, discourse and a cultural text. Therefore, interpretive, discourse analytical, and anthropological approaches can all be used to uncover a different part of the policy.

For an interpretive analysis, as Yanow (2000) points out, one can look into "the words, symbolic objects, and acts of policy-relevant actors along with policy texts" (2). Within this 'data', the metaphoric language, the categories and labels, and the framing of the issue are the elements to look for and uncover (Yanow 2000). Along with the content of policy documents, Shore and Wright (2003) argue, the writing style should also be taken into account because it is through the style of argumentation that "policy creates affect and effect" (Wright and Shore 2003, 28). The embeddedness of policies in larger context requires the analysis of "documents from international agencies, governments and non-governmental organisations (NGOs), television, radio, newspaper articles, reports of meetings and verbatim records of parliamentary debates" as well since these would show how certain concepts and meanings within the policy issue relate to others elsewhere. While following these connections, Clarke et al (2015) warn against "methodological globalism" as well as "methodological nationalism". For the latter, one should bear in mind the aspects of "space, scale and time" (5), that is, the issue in question should be tracked in other locations and at larger scales and traced back in time rather than analyzing it within national boundaries alone. To escape the former, one should not assume "the world as a uniform and borderless space across which objects flow uninterruptedly" (18) and be wary of the nuances of meaning things may acquire in various locations. In other words, when analyzing policy it is important to take into account how the policy is shaped by phenomena occurring in other places, for instance through global organizations, and by global events in history and also the fact that global phenomena are not directly adopted but might take different meanings in the local context.

To summarize, critical approaches to policy highlight the political nature of policy and its power not only to order social relations but also produce certain subjectivities. Policy language might seem neutral and rational but in fact through certain aspects of language it frames the issue in a particular way and thus shapes the way it is perceived. Therefore, the reason behind

a critical policy analysis is to uncover how policy is related to power relations by depicting a certain kind of reality and presenting ideas as common sense. By questioning such common sense, it is possible to see how social inequalities are implicitly reproduced. As a discourse, policy constitutes and is constituted by its social context while being connected to other texts and discourses from a wider scale, in space and time. These call for an analysis of policy which takes into account local and global elements as well as its discourse (not only of policy documents but of various elements that make up the policy), which is the approach this study will also be adopting.

1.3 Studies on the education policies for Syrian refugee children in Turkey

Even though there is no study particularly analyzing the language policies in education, various studies focusing on different aspects of the education for Syrian refugee children in Turkey have been conducted in the last decade. These could be categorized into three groups in terms of their focus. The first group of studies comments on the policies and either explain their rationale or analyze their effectiveness through various frameworks. Others examine the practice on the ground by directing their attention to the experience and opinions of teachers, principals and parents in both types of schooling currently available for the Syrian refugee children in Turkey. Finally, there are a few studies which assess the schooling both in and out of the camps through statistics and investigate the factors behind being out of school and continuing one's studies in higher education.

Almost all studies analyzing the education policies highlight the significance of the shift in the approach towards the refugee education and either scrutinize the reasons behind such shift or analyze the effects of two types of schooling currently in practice. Arar (2020), McCarthy (2018), and Unutulmaz (2019) all claim that the evolution of these education policies reflects

the changes in politics in larger scales, both global and national. Rather than being motivated by any pedagogical concerns, they were designed under the influence of Turkey's immigration policy, through the assumptions of decision-makers regarding the nature of the mobility of the people, and with the purpose of realizing a certain political vision. One implication of the macro policies for the policies in education is ambiguity. In their article focusing particularly on this ambiguity, Baban et al. (2017) claim that the legal ambiguity induced by the temporary protection status leads to a framing of "Syrian refugees as humanitarian objects rather than political subjects" (85). This framing allows for rights such as education to be 'granted' in ways that suit the existing political considerations rather than demanded by the actors themselves. The uncertainty about the duration of stay of the refugees along with this temporary status have influenced the policy decisions in education as well (Arar, Örücü, and Ak Küçükçayir 2020; McCarthy 2018). While the temporary status of the Syrian population in Turkey is a specific case with such repercussions, a comparative study of the education policies towards refugee children in Sweden, Germany, Greece, Lebanon and Turkey by Crul et al (2019) shows that education for immigrant children is still handled through temporary measures in most countries, and problems arise from the lack of institutional preparedness.

Since the political discourse and accordingly the policies towards the education of refugee children shifted from temporariness to integration, there are currently two types of schooling: temporary education centers (TECs) and public schools. For the students in the public schools, PICTES (Promoting the Integration of Syrian Children into Turkish Education System) project has been implemented since 2016 as well. Studies investigate the effects of these two schooling options in terms of education, integration or social justice or analyze the implementation of the PICTES project. The TECs are found to foster positive experiences for both the students and their parents since both the teachers and the curriculum are from Syria. However, this does not allow students to "interact with Turkish society" (Çelik and İçduygu 2019, 263) and "might

hinder their further integration" (Arar, Örücü, and Ak Küçükçayir 2020, 20). While the students in public schools have the opportunity to socialize with their Turkish peers and acquire Turkish, they might also feel more excluded as a result of the monocultural and monolingual habitus of these schools. PICTES project is considered to be a potential aid for these obstacles (Karaman 2018). However, the implementation of this project is not without problems, most of which are related to language teaching. For instance, intensive Turkish classes replace some subject classes in TECs, children are directed to public schools without adequate language proficiency, most teachers have not been trained for teaching Turkish as a second language, the books for Turkish as SL are not suitable for the age group of the children, and the Turkish Proficiency Exam does not assess listening and speaking skills, which are crucial for in-class performance of the students (Karaman 2018; Sülükçü and Savaş 2018). The problems with quality second language instruction, particularly regarding teacher training and material development, arise in the other refugee receiving countries that Crul et al (2019a) have analyzed, among which Germany and Sweden are able to offer relatively better support. In short, insufficient Turkish teaching practices coupled with the impossibility of education in the mother tongue in the public schools could jeopardize the prospects of the refugee children and cause conflicts in the long term (Gezer 2019).

The studies focusing on the teachers mostly survey their experiences either in TECs or public schools (Aydin and Kaya 2019; Balkar, Şahin, and Babahan 2016; Taskin and Erdemli 2018) while one ethnographic study (Karsli-Calamak and Kilinc 2019) analyzes teachers' perspectives and teaching practices through social justice framework. Language barrier comes up as a common problem in public schools, which affects both the academic performance of the children and the involvement of parents in their children's education. Lack of relevant curriculum, teaching materials and sufficient teacher training are other obstacles for teachers. Some also mention challenges with intercultural communication and discipline (Taskin and

Erdemli 2018). One study (Balkar, Şahin, and Babahan 2016) which particularly analyzes Syrian teachers' experiences at TECs finds that while language does not pose any problems and the cooperation with parents is possible and even helpful, problems cited by teachers in public schools such as lack of resources and skills for teaching in this specific context are relevant for most teachers at TECs as well. The ethnography by Karsli-Calamak and Kilinc (2019) provides insight into such varying experiences and shows how different perspectives of teachers influence their practices in terms of redistribution of resources, recognition of students' backgrounds and diversity, and representation of the child's and the parents' voice. This research is able to critically analyze some of the issues which have come up in the abovementioned studies such as language barrier, involvement of parents, and culture and discipline related challenges. It is demonstrated through the narratives and in-class practices of the teachers that how each perceives the status of the refugee students determines whether they will allocate necessary resources for those in need of language support and recognize their differences, how they approach the lack of parent involvement and the challenges with student behavior.

While the students' experiences would provide valuable data about the teaching practices mentioned above, research in this area is limited. A few studies provide statistical information on the schooling of children in and out of the camps and on the reasons for being out of school (Bircan and Sunata 2015; Uyan-Semerci and Erdoğan 2018). While the 2015 study, which was conducted before the PICTES project, finds that education is not available for a significant number of children and relates this to the lack of financial resources in the country to develop education programs, a later study reports that one out of three children in Şanlıurfa and Hatay (cities by the Syrian border) is out of school. The factor that has the biggest influence is found to be the education level of the parents along with low income and the number of children in the family. There is one study which offers a glimpse of the experiences of refugee students in

Turkish education system by analyzing the narratives of those who continued higher education (Cin and Doğan 2020). Considering the significantly low number of refugee students at the university level, it would be illuminating to learn about the opportunity structures which allowed them to reach that point. However, the study mostly focuses on the experiences in higher education rather than elaborating on previous studies. The findings still might be useful in understanding earlier experiences since they show that the refugee youth in universities value the recognition and the opportunity to socialize with their local peers but are in need of "institutional support of language, tutorials and appropriate pedagogies" (13).

The overview of the literature on the education of Syrian refugee children so far shows that while access to education has not been secured for a significant number of children, even the access, by itself, does not lead to meaningful participation. The discourse on temporariness which characterized the first phase and the ambiguity of temporary status seem to have influenced most teachers' and parents' approaches towards education. While parents are hesitant about education in Turkish, some teachers are hesitant about the deservingness of the students in terms of resource allocation, recognition and representation. Despite the later discursive shift from temporary accommodation to integration into public education, the policies do not contribute to the participation of these children in the education system. As most studies highlight, language support, appropriate curriculum and pedagogies along with relevant teacher training are required for the current policy to function as it is expected to. However, as pointed out by most of the analyses of the education policies, such policy decisions so far have been influenced by political decisions at a larger scale, and the current obstacles might not be dealt with unless the wider sociopolitical context allows such changes.

This chapter has shown that policy is increasingly seen as a discourse and a cultural text rather than a neutral, straightforward process. Particularly, language ideologies reflected in language

policies and the role of language as a gate-keeping mechanism in migration contexts are highlighted. However, most studies dealing with the education policies for the refugee children outlined above do not focus on what the policy does through discourse and do not problematize linguistic hierarchies created through such discourse. This research aims to complete such a gap.

Chapter 2 - Context

Following a critical and discursive approach to language policy, this research aims to show the historical and sociopolitical embeddedness of policy discourse and language ideologies reflected in such discourse. Therefore, this chapter will present the context in which the education policies for refugee children have been shaped. The first section will help to see the roots of the ideologies of language that informed policies in Turkey, particularly in education. This will be followed by the wider political context surrounding the forced migration from Syria and the timeline of education policies for refugee children which are the core of this study. This timeline is intended to be descriptive and it will be critically analyzed later throughout the analysis chapter.

2.1 Language policies in Turkey since the Late Ottoman Empire

When Geoffrey Lewis (1999) aptly named his book on Turkish language reform *A Catastrophic Success*, he was only referring to the policies of the Early Republican period but the trajectory of language policies from the Late Ottoman Empire to the late 20th century Turkey is indeed a text-book example of how language planning can 'successfully' transform a multilingual empire into a monolingual nation at the expense of traumas and lost generations. An overview of these policies and the discourse around language and mother tongue, particularly in education, will be helpful in setting the context for the focus of this study.

The *millet* system (organization of the society as separate religious communities) in the Ottoman Empire had several implications for the languages of the empire both at the later stages and then in the early years of the Republic. Earlier intellectual roots of the nation building in Turkey are in the *Tanzimat* Era (Ottoman reforms period) starting in 1839, when issue of language planning first appeared in the public discourse. The *millet* system led the

Ottoman intellectuals to conceive nation building in terms of the Muslim and non-Muslim divide. Muslims, despite speaking various languages, were easier to assimilate into one nation speaking a single language. Namık Kemal – an Ottoman intellectual, for instance, thought it was "not possible to spread [our] language among the Rum (Greek) and the Bulgarian"; however, "definitely possible to spread it among the Albanian and the Laz, that is, the Muslim [...] The Laz and Albanian languages would be forgotten in twenty years time" (Sadoğlu 2003, 78). This did not mean the non-Muslim were not targeted in the language planning efforts however, and Turkish became an obligatory course for all schools in 1894 (91).

Even though the teaching of Turkish gained importance in the efforts of centralization and modernization, state language policy had not yet evolved into monolingualism. The first draft of *Kanun-i Esasi* (the first Ottoman constitution) indeed stated that "all peoples in the Ottoman country are free to teach and learn the language of their own" (97). This pluralist logic of the empire was later replaced with an emphasis on Turkishness under the influence of the Young Turks movement in the early 20th century. Sadoglu (2003) claims that Young Turks "realized the role of language in forming a national identity and focused more on the spreading of Turkish as well as the establishment of a common culture so as to keep the subjects unified under the Ottoman rule" (145). The role of education in the formation of this common identity was also acknowledged. For instance, Ziya Gökalp, a member of the *İttihat ve Terakki* (Committee of Union and Progress) and also an influential figure shaping Republic's nationalist ideology, believed that "non-Turkish Muslim groups who lived together with Turks for hundreds of years could be Turkified through education" (169).

These ideas were solidified into various state policies after the foundation of the Republic of Turkey in 1923. The Muslim and non-Muslim divide continued to have implications for the language policies. With the 40th article of the Lausanne Treaty, Turkey allowed Armenian,

Greek, and Jewish communities to open schools and provide education in their own languages (Menz and Schroeder 2006). The 1924 Constitution stated that the official language of the country is Turkish, and the Law on the Unification of Education (Tevhid-i Tedrisat Kanunu) in March 1924 centralized the education system (Sadoğlu 2003, 289), which was to provide education in Turkish even though the population spoke around 21 different languages (Aslan et al. 2015). Probably the most symbolically significant policy for the nation building process came with the law on the new alphabet in November 1928, which adopted Latin-based alphabet instead of the Arabic script (226). This aimed a break from the Ottoman past and the literacy campaigns that the new alphabet required allowed for a widespread Turkification of the Muslim communities, particularly the Kurdish. The literature on the language policies of the Early Republican Era shows how various unrelated policies all targeted the linguistic diversity such as the literacy classes through People's Houses (*Halkevleri*) particularly in the Kurdish towns (Çolak 2004), the Settlement Law (İskan Kanunu) in 1934 which relocated Turkish speaking groups to Kurdish speaking areas (Sadoğlu 2003, 121), and the laws that banned non-Turkish surnames and renamed many towns and villages (Colak 2004). Even though it was a civil initiative by university students, Citizen Speak Turkish! (Vatandaş Türkçe Konuş!) campaign in 1928 also transformed the public sphere into a monolingual space by targeting even the non-Muslim populations of the diverse Istanbul (Bayar 2011).

While the state continued to control how the citizens spoke, whether Turkish or any other language, even stricter policies on languages came with the 1982 Constitution written after the military coup of 1980. Article 42nd of the Constitution, for instance, stipulates that "No language other than Turkish shall be taught as a mother tongue to Turkish citizens at any institution of teaching or education" (Minority Rights Group 2007). This was mainly aimed at the Kurdish speaking population and various laws were passed to ban the use of Kurdish in any way (Balçik 2009).

Even though some of the restrictions on languages were removed throughout 90s, more serious reforms were needed after Turkey became an EU candidate country in 1999 (Balçik 2009). As a result of this process, the "Regulation on the Learning of the Different Languages and Dialects Traditionally Used by Turkish Citizens in Their Daily Lives" was published in December 2003 and allowed the opening of private language courses to teach citizens different languages spoken in Turkey (175). While this regulation only allowed private language courses, a rather significant policy followed in 2012. Under the title of Living languages and dialects, several languages spoken in Turkey were introduced as elective courses in public schools (Sabah 2012). In 2017 the language options in these classes were Abaza language, Adyghe language in Cyrillic or Latin alphabet, Albanian, Bosnian, Georgian, Kurmanci (Kurdish), Lazuri and Zazaki. 85,000 students took these classes in 2015 (Hürriyet 2015). Arabic is also spoken in Turkey by a minority; however, their language was not included in these elective courses. Instead, Arabic as a foreign language class was introduced in 2016 from 2nd grade onwards (MoNE 2016a). Even though these classes are symbolically significant and transformed the discourse on languages in Turkey from denial to partial acceptance, their teaching hours are limited and they are only given from the 5th grade onwards. Under such conditions, children cannot develop full bilingualism and thus these do not function as mother tongue support classes. Any discussion on education provided in any of these languages is still not acceptable in the public discourse and one could be persecuted for demanding it (Gazeteduvar 2020). According to UNESCO, 15 languages are endangered at different levels in Turkey and 3 languages have recently been lost (Bianet 2009), which points to the fact that speakers of minority languages are not transmitting them to younger generations and thus more and more people are becoming monolingual in Turkish.

This brief summary shows that language policies in Turkey, which aimed to monolingualize the society by assimilating non-Turkish Muslim minorities into a Turkish speaking nation, have slightly changed through the EU accession process. Acknowledging the diversity of languages in the society; however, did not translate into language policies in education which could foster bilingualism and better support children whose first language is different. With the increasing number of refugee students whose first language is not Turkish studying in public schools, this is once more a question policy makers will have to struggle with.

2.2 Migration from Syria to Turkey since 2011 – global and local political context

The civil war that broke out in Syria in 2011 caused many to flee the country and seek refuge in neighboring countries such as Lebanon, Jordan, and Turkey. The Turkish government at the time followed an 'open-door policy' and defined those seeking asylum as 'guests'. One reason for such a term was the absence of a legal term to define them since non-Europeans are not able to claim refugee status in Turkey as a result of the geographical limitation Turkey maintains in the the 1951 Refugee Convention and its 1967 Protocol (Içduygu and Millet 2016). This limitation is maintained since Turkey states that due to its geographical position, it is under pressure to host refugees from neighboring countries and only agrees to lift such limitation if EU member countries "share the burden" (DGMM 2005). The other reason is that the guest metaphor fitted well with the Islamic rhetoric the government was using. This was apparent in the adoption of the Islamic terms 'muhajir' and 'ansar', which were used by the then Deputy Prime Minister Kurtulmuş (Anadolu Ajansı 2014) as well as President Erdoğan (Habertürk 2014). While the former term denotes the Muslim migrants from Mecca to Medina, the latter are those who hosted them in their homes. This was particularly relevant for the fact that those fleeing Syria were being represented by the government as Sunni brothers escaping the Alawite Assad regime.

Even though the guest metaphor remained in the public discourse for some time, a somewhat ambiguous but a legal term was adopted through a circular in March 2012 and the status of Syrians was defined as temporary protection (Baban, Ilcan, and Rygiel 2017). Since Turkey had not had a proper legislation regarding migration and asylum and this had been required during the EU accession process, a law had already been under way before the arrival of Syrians. This law titled Law on Foreigners and International Protection (LFIP) was passed in April 2013 (DGMM 2013). This was followed by the Regulation on Temporary Protection in October 2014, which initiated the foundation of the Directorate General of Migration Management (Içduygu and Millet 2016) for the registration of the refugees as well as for overseeing all services related to foreigners (International Crisis Group 2016).

When not so favorable conditions in Turkey led many refugees to take the risks and leave the country for Europe in 2015, this turned into a 'refugee crisis' for many European countries. President Erdoğan visited Brussels that year to ask for EU support (Içduygu and Nimer 2020) and from his statements in which he was suggesting creating a no-fly zone for the resettlement of refugees it was clear that he still portrayed this as a temporary situation that could be solved through military operations. This meeting resulted in the EU-Turkey Joint Action Plan (European Commission 2015), which will later lead to the famous 'EU-Turkey deal'. Through the end of the year, statements from public officials hinted that the long-term nature of the situation was acknowledged (International Crisis Group 2016) even though the concepts used such as 'temporary permanence' showed that the strategies were not entirely clear.

In January 2016 a step for permanence was taken by introducing the Regulation on Work Permits for Foreigners under Temporary Protection (Ministry of Labor and Social Security 2016). This was followed by the EU-Turkey statement on March 18th, which entailed EU contributing 3 billion euros for the Facility for Refugees in Turkey, and outlined the one-in

one-out agreement according to which "for every Syrian being returned to Turkey from Greek islands, another Syrian will be resettled from Turkey to the EU" (European Council 2016). Despite the growing negative attitudes towards refugees among the general public, on July 2nd President Erdoğan announced at a Ramadan dinner hosted for refugees that they would be given the opportunity to acquire citizenship (TCBB 2016). He repeated this statement at his address at the UN General Assembly in September that year. Since then, more than 90 thousand Syrian refugees (adults and children), who are "qualified people such as teachers and engineers" according to Interior Minister Soylu, have acquired Turkish citizenship (Euronews 2019).

While projects on integration and initiatives for citizenship were on the agenda, the prospects of return have also been increasingly voiced by public figures. Public opinion about the refugees along with the deteriorating economy and the tensions between native populations and Syrians, the country's degrading economy and the upcoming election period are cited as possible causes for the return discourse (Içduygu and Nimer 2020). In 2017 and 2018 Turkey launched two military operations in Northern Syria, which -besides Turkey's other political considerations- aimed to create 'safe zones' where refugees could return to. However, in 2019, even Idlib which was being planned as the safe zone and which is the last area controlled by the Syrian opposition seemed to be "losing ground" (Içduygu and Nimer 2020).

As of April 9th 2020, there are 3,585,046 registered Syrians under temporary protection in Turkey (DGMM 2020b). This is slightly lower than 2018 since when around 100,000 have acquired Turkish citizenship and around 80,000 have returned to Syria (UNHCR 2019). The unfolding of events between 2011 and 2019 could be summarized as the following: The expectation of the war and the refugee situation to be short-lived determined the approaches by both the refugee hosting countries and the global actors, and the refugees have been

instrumentalized in various ways both in the political discourse in Turkey and as a result of the EU-Turkey deal. Even though a discourse on return occasionally appears, it seems crucial that policies geared towards permanence be considered and more 'responsibility-sharing' from EU countries instead of 'responsibility-shifting' take place.

2.3 Timeline of education policies for the refugee children in Turkey since 2011

From May 2011 when the first temporary camp was set up by the Disaster and Emergency Management Authority (AFAD) in the border city of Hatay until 2020, various changes have been made to the policies regarding the education of children from Syria almost each year and this was mostly due to the changes in the wider sociopolitical context as well as a side effect of the *ad hoc* policy making. This section will give a brief timeline of these policies including laws, regulations, projects as well as some important announcements by public figures.

The first education facilities for children were provided in the camps by Syrian volunteers and international organizations. There were also Syrian and Turkish NGOs outside the camps providing support as well as private Syrian schools for those who could afford them. The state was hardly involved in the education provision at first; however, the educational rights of the people taking refuge in the country was recognized under the "Law on Foreigners and International Protection" in 2013 ("Yabancılar ve Uluslararası Koruma Kanunu" 2013). The first official document by the Ministry of National Education (MONE) regarding the education of Syrian refugee children was the circular titled "Precautions regarding the Syrian citizens hosted in our country outside camps" in 2013, and it focused on determining the possible physical spaces outside camps where education could be provided as well as those places where unofficial education facilities already existed. Later that year, the circular titled "Education services for Syrian citizens under temporary protection in our country" delineated the

framework of such education outside camps including the registration of children who had residency permits and opening of Temporary Education Centers (TEC). TECs provide primary and secondary education both in the camps and in 19 cities and teach the Syrian curriculum in Arabic. However, this curriculum was edited and parts related to Assad and the Syrian regime were taken out (BEKAM 2015). Not all of these children have Arabic as their first language; however, and it is reported that there are Kurdish, Turkish, Armenian, and Domari speaking children among them (ERG 2018). There are no statistics about them and no policy directed at this linguistic diversity.

In 2014, the requirement for residency permits in registration was removed with the circular titled "Education services for Foreigners" so as to increase schooling outside camps. This circular aimed to manage the variety of education facilities including temporary education centers in and outside camps, public schools outside camps, and private schools opened by Syrian citizens. In other words, the education services which were given by a variety of actors before this date were standardized and centralized.

After the EU-Turkey Statement and the disbursement of 3 billion euros to the Facility of Refugees in Turkey in March 2016, there were certain shifts in the approach towards the education of Syrian children. In May 2016, the Department of Migration and Emergency Education was established to manage the education policies regarding migration and in emergency situations (MoNE 2016b). In August, it was announced that students starting the 1st, 5th, and 9th grades would be enrolled in public schools and TECs were to be closed down by 2020 (Akyuz 2018). Such developments were followed by the PIKTES (Promoting the integration of Syrian kids into Turkish education system) project in October 2016, which was funded by the EU as a result of the "Facility for Refugees in Turkey (FRIT)" agreement. The project is currently active in 26 cities where Syrian refugee population is the highest, and

provides support in the form of Turkish and Arabic language classes, make-up and catch-up classes, stationery and transportation support for students, and various training activities for the staff ("PIKTES" 2017). The students follow regular public school classes but have extra classes given by teachers temporarily contracted for this project.

PIKTES was initially planned as a two-year project. Therefore, in December 2018 the second phase was initiated with an additional grant by FRIT and planned to continue until the end of 2021. In addition to the earlier PIKTES activities, this phase will include pre-school education, vocational training, social integration activities, and Turkish classes for adults (PIKTES 2018). The latest policy decision came in September 2019 with the MONE circular titled "Integration Classes for Foreign Students" (MoNE 2019). According to this document, those students in primary and secondary education whose Turkish language skills are insufficient are to be enrolled in these classes. When they succeed in the Turkish Proficiency Exam at the end of the semester (maximum two semesters), they are to continue regular classes.

As of January 2020, 684,919 out of 1,082,172 school-aged Syrian children receive education in Turkey (MEEM 2020). Even though the TECs have not been completely closed down, around 15% of these students are in the 215 remaining TECs. The rest are in the public schools or in open education (MEEM 2018). The education policies between 2011 and 2019 could be summarized as crisis management and ad hoc solutions until 2016 and hasty integration into Turkish education system from then on. Language skills in Turkish seem to be the most crucial issue for the students in this process as could be deduced from the PIKTES activities in 26 cities as well as the compliance classes in any school with Syrian students, a move made after the initial decision of full integration seems to have created problems. While it is hard to foresee the direction of future policies, the trajectory of the policies so far suggests that more additions and alterations are yet to come depending on the larger political context.

This chapter has pointed out two major contextual factors that could have possibly influenced the education policy decisions and discourse: the history of nation-building and assimilation through language in Turkey as a result of which the public discussion of linguistic diversity has been highly controversial, and the global and local political implications of the forced mobility from Syria which has been instrumentalized by various actors. Considering these factors as well as the basic presumptions of policy and LPP literature, then, the following research questions could be asked: How have the education policies for Syrian refugee children and their discourse been shaped by the global context as well as the language ideologies in Turkey? How could such policy discourse lead to linguistic and social inequalities for these children?

Chapter 3 – Methodology

As the literature review on policy analysis has revealed, policy is a meaning making process and the analysis requires various tools and methods to uncover this process. Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA) and the Discourse-Historical Approach (DHA) provide such tools. Fairclough (2003) argues that how texts, practices and ideologies are related to social structures and processes are "modalities of power" (Hyatt 2013, 837), that is, studying this relationship will show us the power dynamics behind them. The purpose of such a study is to deconstruct how social reality, identities, and relationships are represented and shaped through a text. A text is not only a written document or a speech but any "semiotic representation(s) of social events" (ibid). Therefore, in a discourse-analytical approach to policy, various elements in the policy including documents, speeches, objects, places, and acts are all texts to be analyzed.

The current study focuses on the language-in-education policies for the Syrian refugee children in Turkey between 2011 and 2019 and aims to answer the research questions given at the end of the previous chapter. Therefore, the discourse analysis aims to unravel the linguistic inequalities created through these policies by approaching as 'texts' various policy documents, speeches or public statements by policy-relevant actors as well as acts related to the policy. The policy discourse, however, is not analyzed in and of itself. There are at least two steps to be taken: contextualization and deconstruction (Hyatt 2013, 838).

Contextualizing is a crucial part of DHA and Wodak (2008) proposes a multi-level understanding of context which includes the broader sociopolitical and historical context, the context of the situation, the interdiscursive and intertextual relationships, and finally the immediate language or the text (13). Taking into account multiple levels of context helps to trace the "influence of changing socio-political conditions (i.e. macro-level of context) on the dynamics of discursive practices (policy documents, etc.)" (Krzyżanowski and Wodak 2011,

118). For this study, both the sociopolitical local and global context of the refugee situation and the historical context of language policies in Turkey were summarized in the previous chapters. During the analysis of the policy texts, the websites of and documents from EU commission and the EU Council, news reports from Turkey, and documents related to various policy areas such as migration and labor, and earlier policy documents related to language and education will be referred to for contextualization. This endeavor will provide insight about the policy rationale and goals as well as about the shifts in the policy. These sources might also reveal interdiscursive and intertextual connections to the policy texts being analyzed, thus show how various concepts are adopted from another location, field and/or time, and recontextualized in a new setting (Fairclough 1995, 181).

As mentioned above, the step to be taken after contextualizing the policy is to deconstruct the policy texts. In an interpretive policy analysis, Yanow (2000) suggests to treat as 'data' "the words, symbolic objects, and acts of policy-relevant actors along with policy texts" (2). Therefore, it is recommended to start with the analysis of documents such as "newspaper (and other media) coverage", "various reports, legislation, or agency documents", and supplement the analysis, if possible, with the interviews with or observation of key actors and events (5). These actors could be politicians, bureaucrats, linguists (in the case of language policy), and many others (Barakos and W. Unger 2016, 68). The primary documents gathered from the state database for legislation (mevzuat.gov.tr) as well as from the websites of the relevant agencies and to be used in the discourse analysis can be seen in Table 1 below.

Title	Year	Issuing Institution
1. Law on Foreigners and International Protection	2013	Presidency
2. Circular on Education Services for Foreigners	2014	MoNE
3. Regulation on Temporary Protection	2014	Presidency
4. EU-Turkey Joint Action Plan	2015	European Commission
5. 2015-2019 Strategic Plan	2015	MoNE
6. EU-Turkey Statement	2016	European Council
7. Promoting Integration of Syrian Children into Turkish Education System Project	2016	EU Delegation to Turkey
8. News item titled "The roadmap for the education of Syrian children has been determined"	2016	MoNE
9. PIKTES project webpage – piktes.gov.tr	2017	MoNE
10. Circular on Integration Classes for Foreign Students	2019	MoNE

Table 1 – Key documents used in discourse analysis

While primary data through interviews and observations will be beyond the scope of this study, data on the speeches, statements, and acts of policy relevant actors such as the President, Ministers of National Education, Internal Affairs, and Foreign Relations, and bureaucrats working in the General Directorate of Migration Management, Migration and Emergency Education Management, and the PIKTES project will be gathered from news reports and from previous research. The relevant speeches and statements will be accessed through Turkish news websites through a keyword search between 2011-2019.

The next step of the analysis is to work closely with the texts themselves. In a critical approach, the aim is to reveal how language is used in a way that takes for granted various phenomena, naturalizes and rationalizes certain decisions and actions, and makes "normative assumptions"

(Hyatt 2013; Barakos and W. Unger 2016, 13). Analyzing the language for this purpose entails determining the discourse topics, looking for the discursive strategies and their linguistic realizations as well as the appearances of any other analytical category. The discourse topics within the texts to be analyzed for this research have been identified as migration, integration, and language in education. The discursive strategies in DHA are nomination, predication, argumentation, perspectivation, and intensification/mitigation (Wodak and Meyer 2001). While this will be the main framework, concepts from other frameworks that are found to be relevant will be applied as well.

Nomination is how people, things, or events are referred to or labeled. Construction of categories and the use of metaphors are common linguistic realizations of this strategy. For an interpretive policy analysis, Yanow (2000), similarly, deems metaphor and category analysis crucial. Critically analyzing metaphoric language in the policy could help "discover[ing] the architecture of the policy argument" (3). Categories are also commonly created in public policies and "reflect a set of ideas about their subject matter" by assuming "samenesses and differences" within those categories (8-9). In addition, they might take on a specific meaning "at the particular time and place of their usage" (12). Another linguistic means for labeling could be the use of pronouns to "include or exclude groups (us and them) or indeed obscure the identity of the group constructed" (Hyatt 2013, 842). In this study, labeling and the categorization of the Syrian children the policies aim at, metaphoric language related to the event of taking refuge, and how education and language learning are referred to might be potential appearances of this discursive strategy.

Predication is the positive or negative evaluative language used for these labels. Hyatt (2013) argues that such evaluation could either be explicitly "displaying the attitudinal judgement of the text producer" through the use of certain words or only evoking such meaning by using

seemingly neutral language (841). Since policies often adopt neutral language, overt evaluative language about the categories mentioned above might not exist but the meanings evoked could be revealed through contextual or intertextual references.

Argumentation is the justification of decisions and actions, which could be exclusionary or discriminatory and could be achieved by referring to authority, rationality or morality as well as through the use of various lexical and grammatical items (840-842). Particularly for the policy analysis, Fairclough (1995) suggests focusing on how the relationship between problems and solutions are constructed since problem orientation is a distinct character of policies. In our case, the 'problem' areas that the policies were created for are migration and education, and the analysis will potentially focus on how the policy decisions at any point are justified in the texts.

Perspectivation is how an issue is framed in the text, and in the policy language for that matter. Highlighting the framing of the issue in the policy is important as it may "direct attention toward some elements while simultaneously diverting attention from other elements" (Yanow 2000, 9). Therefore, how the events, particularly the event of human mobility, is narrated and the elements or the lack of elements in such narration can tell us from which perspective the policy object is viewed and treated. Accordingly, linguistic devices could be used to intensify or mitigate the importance of such phenomena as human mobility and this could also function as a justification strategy.

Along with a holistic analysis of these discursive strategies, one specific analytical category to be investigated within each strategy will be language ideologies. Since language policies regulate the use of languages in various domains and thus contain traces of beliefs about languages, their analysis should include an examination of language ideologies (Krzyżanowski and Wodak 2011; Lawton 2016). As these are defined as "cultural ideas, presumptions and

presuppositions with which different social groups name, frame and evaluate linguistic practices" (Gal 2006), how languages such as Turkish or Arabic, their use in education and their learning are named and framed in the texts will tell us about the language ideologies beneath.

While the critical discourse analysis method could include a detailed study of all the elements described above, the following analysis will not cover each discursive strategy step by step but rather will analyze documents holistically. Even though strategies such as categorization, labeling, framing and argumentation will be taken into account in each document, only those that are found relevant for the discourse topic at hand will be explained in detail.

Chapter 4 - The Policy Analysis

Following the approach to policy as a power tool ordering social relations and shaping the perceptions of the issues it handles and the conception of language policy as a mechanism of allocating resources through language use, this chapter will analyze the ways through which language in education policy for Syrian refugee children have produced social and linguistic hierarchies. As pointed out in the methodology chapter, discursive strategies and topics salient in the policy texts have been analyzed and three significant areas have been found to stand out. These are temporariness, integration, and monolingual ideologies. The following three sections will explain and exemplify how these discourse areas have been shaped by both the global and the national context and have dominated the policy language through discursive strategies, particularly nomination and argumentation. Each section will also point to the possible implications of these for refugee children.

4.1 Creating categories: How does policy frame the people, mobility, and status?

As discussed in the theoretical framework, how and why policies are generated or have shifted could not solely be understood in the national context but should be analyzed taking the global context into consideration as well. The national policies related to forced human mobility such as the one from Syria have clear connections to international or supranational texts and discourses. Most often than not these will impact how the phenomenon of human mobility and the people involved in it are classified and labelled. Therefore, this section aims to find out how the refugees, their mobility and status are represented in the policy language and how and why the language in education policies for Syrian refugee children have been shaped by such texts and discourses. This endeavor will help to understand how the power dynamics related to language in education in a migration context are shaped by policies and politics in a wider

context. For analytical purposes, this section will group policy decisions and related policy documents and statements into two distinct periods and trace the contextual influences and discursive connections in each period.

The first period from late 2011 to late 2014 is characterized by the discourse of temporariness. Even though this discourse was later mostly abandoned at the policy level, it has continued defining how the policies are understood and experienced. There seems to be two sources of this notion of temporariness that has come to dominate the public and policy discourse: the local public discourse and the discourse embedded in international legal texts.

The primary representations of the refugees as being temporary were painted by important political figures in Turkey through the use of strong metaphoric language. From May 2011 when the first group of people from Syria were settled in camps in Hatay, Turkey – or rather temporary sheltering centers as they are called (AFAD n.d.) – by the Disaster and Emergency Management Authority (AFAD) until the Temporary Protection Regulation (2014) which defined their legal status, the official discourse on refugees was that they were guests and muhajir¹. President Erdoğan's speech from 2014 where he addressed the Syrian population staying in one of the camps (Habertürk 2014) is a fascinating example of this 'nation state as home' metaphor through which he framed the act of accepting refugees as an act of welcoming guests to your home and generosity rather than as a state policy:

"We, as Turkey, feel pleased, delighted and proud that we have hosted you here for four years. You were the 'muhajir'. You were forced to leave your homeland. We were the 'ansar' and we used all means available to help you. No matter what anyone says you are never a burden for us. [...] In our civilization, in our culture, in our traditions, a guest means abundance and honor. You both made us the ansar and also brought abundance to our home, brought honor to our home, and brought joy to our home"

 $^{^{1}}$ In the Islamic history, those who migrated from Mecca to Medina with the Prophet Mohammed are called the muhajir while those who hosted the migrants in their homes are called ansar

The 'guest' label was also used in policy documents and reports. One of the first circulars that the Ministry of National Education sent out in 2013, for instance, was titled "Measures regarding the Syrian citizens hosted [who are guests] outside camps in our country" (Emin 2016) and some of the reports that the Disaster and Emergency Management Authority prepared regarding camp facilities were also named as "Syrian Guests" (AFAD 2016). 'Guests' metaphor both refers to the Turkish nation state as home as pointed out above but also invokes the perception of a short stay and a return home. This perception determined the policy decisions as well and in an interview with a news agency the then Minister of National Education Dincer indeed articulated this perception quite clearly:

"We sent our teachers who speak Arabic and who were raised in that region. [...] We didn't put any effort in teaching the Syrian children any Turkish. We see them as *guests* [italics added] in our country and we expect that they will return to their own country after the situation in Syria improves" (Milliyet 2012)

The decision regarding the nature of the education provided for the children and the language to be used for such education was clearly influenced by the political vision of the period and Arabic was presented as the logical choice for the expectation that they would 'return home'.

The use of such metaphoric language was not the only factor shaping the discourse around their status as mentioned above. The legal status of temporary protection has influenced – and still influences – the policy making and the policy discourse. To understand where this status originates and how its discourse has been recontextualized and found its way in national policy documents, one should look into the European Union's directive on temporary protection of 2001. This was a document that aimed to set the "minimum standards for giving temporary protection in the event of a mass influx of displaced persons and on measures promoting a balance of efforts between Member States in receiving such persons and bearing the consequences" (European Commission 2001). In order to explain the rationale of such a policy it refers to the aftermath of the "conflict in the former Yugoslavia" and also to "displaced

persons from Kosovo" in which such 'mass influx' took place. Briefly, it allows the Members to attribute this temporary protection status to those displaced persons whose refugee status as specified by the Geneva Convention of 1951 and the 1967 Protocol could not be determined through a case-by-case process and also makes it possible to 'share the burden' the 'mass influx' might have placed on a country.

As also referred to on the website of the General Directorate of Migration Management (DGMM 2020a), the temporary protection status recognized for the Syrian refugees in Turkey was modeled after this perception and the documents outlining the status have direct discursive connections to this directive. The Temporary Protection Regulation (2014) defines this status as:

"Protection status granted to foreigners, who were forced to leave their countries and are unable to return to the countries they left and arrived at or crossed our borders in masses or individually during this mass influx to seek urgent and temporary protection and whose international protection requests cannot be taken under individual assessment"

and the concept of mass influx, which was also the term used in the Directive (European Commission 2001), is defined in the Regulation as:

"Situations in which a high number of people come from the same country or a geographical region and procedures related to international protection status cannot be individually followed because of the number of people"

Neither the European Council Directive nor the Temporary Protection Regulation of 2014 clarifies what "high number of people" entails other than through the topos of numbers (Wodak and Meyer 2001) which helps to justify an action or argue the necessity of an action through numbers. This discourse around mass influx, indeed, has substantial implications. While representation of masses are easily instrumentalized to instill fear in public through a perception of 'threat' or 'invasion' (Gerrard 2017; Tazzioli and Genova 2016), the concept of 'mass influx' could also function as an argument to justify policy decisions. This labeling of

mobility as 'mass influx' has been used in education policy documents as well. The circular on Education Services for Foreigners (2014), for instance, repeatedly uses this term not to define the mobility itself but as an adjective to label the students as "foreign students who came into our country in a mass influx" or to explain the policy decision that "temporary education centers will be founded [...] in cities/districts which were affected by the mass influx". By narrating the phenomenon as if it was a natural disaster, this language invokes an 'emergency' or a 'crisis', which has also been increasingly used by governments to justify various policy decisions as in the notions of 'state of emergency' or 'refugee crisis' (Tazzioli and Genova 2016). It is also worth noting that the refugee arrivals were also treated with the emergency discourse with Disaster and Emergency Management Authority organizing the camps and even the education centers within the camps along with the Migration and Emergency Education Management agency under MoNE. Therefore, the emergency discourse could function as a legitimation of the temporary protection status and the temporary education policy for people who, contradictorily, have to be permanent in Turkey exactly because of this temporary protection status. As a result, the Arabic education policy that depended on the belief of actual temporariness had to be reversed when the context changed, which required a discursive shift as well.

The Regulation on Temporary Protection (2014) does not specify for how long a person could be attributed this status. Therefore, after almost nine years, children from Syria could still be categorized as SuTPs (Syrians under Temporary Protection) (see "Promoting Integration of Syrian Children into Turkish Education System" n.d.) and this continues to define their reality. For example, not knowing whether they will be able to return or resettled in a third country, parents are reported in one study to be unwilling to have their children educated only in Turkish and prefer to send them to TECs as long as possible (Çelik and İçduygu 2019). However, as mentioned above, even though the limitations this status entails have remained, a policy aiming

'permanence' replaced the one of 'temporariness' as a result of the changing context. With the EU-Turkey joint action plan (2015) and the EU-Turkey Statement (2016) which is commonly referred to as EU-Turkey Deal, projects and policy moves aiming at teaching Turkish and providing education in Turkish were put forward as the only logical paths to follow. The contradiction that only three to four years ago, education in Arabic was put forward as the only logical alternative is just one example of this discursive shift.

It is not possible to speculate how Turkey would have proceeded in its policies regarding the education of refugee children if the agreement with EU had not taken place; however, the EU-Turkey Statement did indeed make it clear that a majority of the refugee population in Turkey would be permanent. Turkey agreed to take "any necessary measures to prevent new sea or land routes for illegal migration opening from Turkey to the EU" while EU member states would "contribute on a *voluntary basis* [italics added] to this [Voluntary Humanitarian Admission] scheme" (European Council 2016). In return for Turkey to 'host' the majority of the refugees, visa liberalization for Turkish citizens would be considered, which was one element of this statement that caused this to be called 'a deal'. The Facility for Refugees in Turkey would also be disbursed 6 billion Euros in two allotments which was to be used for, among other areas, projects for education.

The PIKTES (Promoting the Integration of Syrian Kids into Turkish Education System) project was the widest in scope among the education projects with a funding of 300 million Euros (EU Delegation to Turkey 2016) through which the 'integration' and 'social cohesion' entered the policy discourse and the schooling within public education instead of Temporary Education Centers came into the agenda. What the project did to promote the integration into Turkish education system, which is a notion to be analyzed in more detail in section 3 of this chapter, was to offer Turkish and Arabic language training along with catch-up and back-up classes

(EU Delegation to Turkey 2016). Whether the integration 'succeeded' through these activities could be evaluated by the recent policy decision that will be mentioned below. However, as this section tries to underline, we could see in various documents by MoNE that a large scale integration was not a pre-planned move but rather appeared after the 'EU-Deal'. For instance, the 2015-2019 strategic plan by the Ministry only mentions "foreigners under temporary protection" twice and does not specify any plan for preparing them for education in Turkish in public schools but only states that efforts would be made to integrate them into the education system so that "they can receive education during the time they are in our country" (MoNE 2015). This item does not even appear among the primary action points for the 5-year plan and the main responsible unit for this item is designated as the General Directorate of European Union and Foreign Relations. The Migration and Emergency Education Management unit, which specifically manages activities related to refugee children is only established one year later in 2016 after the permanence of refugees as a result of the wider political context is acknowledged.

Even though these abrupt changes in policy and the discourse show that none of these moves are carefully planned pedagogically motivated decisions for the best interest of the students, policy language indeed presents these decisions as if they are. Such argumentation also, unintentionally, points to the *ad hoc* nature of the policy making. The circular regarding the integration classes, which were designed after the enrollment into public schools without an efficient transition period turned out to be not the best action, retrospectively argues that this decision had been taken "so that the foreign students in temporary education centers could benefit from education services better" (MoNE 2019). However, this document also acknowledges that the language barrier caused difficulties, which necessitated the opening of integration classes. Therefore, though not deliberately, it is accepted that that move did not help children "benefit from education services better" but instead caused them experience

difficulties. It is also worth noting that these classes are to be given by teachers employed in the PIKTES project (MoNE 2019), whose second phase started in 2018 after the Facility for Refugees in Turkey disbursed another 400 million Euros for the project (PIKTES 2018). These 'integration classes', then, might not have been possible without the EU funding. This is also significant in that while policy and project related documents repeatedly refer to "access to quality education" as its primary aim (EU Delegation to Turkey 2016; MoNE 2019), what it does is intensive Turkish teaching. This could help them 'manage' in Turkish curriculum but might not necessarily help children meaningfully participate in education in the languages they know best and improve their Turkish at the same time.

This brief analysis displayed how the categories and labels regarding the human mobility and thus the refugee students have been created through legal and policy documents and how decisions such as education in Arabic or Turkish have been motivated by developments in the wider context. It was also demonstrated that despite the use of highly positive phrases such as "quality education", "benefit from education services", and "promoting the integration" to depict the policy moves as the best or the most logical steps, they have been mainly taken as a result of political agreements elsewhere or earlier legal texts that have been recontextualized. The following section aims to illustrate how such categorization and argumentation coupled with the language ideologies already in place in Turkey influenced the language related policy decisions and what implications these have had for the students.

4.2 Language ideologies and linguistic inequality in education

As stated before, Turkey does not have an established language policy for migration. Therefore, any language related decision within the education policies for refugees is shaped by the wider policy context as detailed in the previous chapter and also informed by the common language ideologies in Turkey. This section will, thus, scrutinize the language policy decisions and the

discourse in these policies to understand how the ideologies related to language use and languages in education have shaped the policies and how policies such as these could result in linguistic and social inequalities for the refugee children.

Until 2016 when MoNE decided that children starting the 1st, 5th, and the 9th grade would be enrolled in the Turkish public schools and not the TECs, most of the Syrian students had received education in Arabic with the Syrian curriculum (some students in the remaining TECs still do). One of the first policy documents by MoNE which draws the framework of these centers defines the purpose of the education in these centers as:

"[...] to ensure the foreign students who have flooded into our country in masses to continue the education they were forced to leave in their country and to prevent grade repetition when they return to their country or if they would like to transfer to any education institution and continue their education in our country" (MoNE 2014)

The document does not specify the medium of education as Arabic and in a later press release by MoNE, the students are said to be receiving education "in their own language" (MoNE 2016c) but we learn from the statements by the then Minister of Education that "their own language" indeed refers to Arabic (Anadolu Ajansı 2012). The fact that this information is not clearly stated in the documents seems to show that it is believed to be common sense. While these children are citizens of Syria, Arabic is the official language of the country and not necessarily the first language of all the children coming from there. Among them there are Kurdish, Turkish, Armenian, and Domari speaking children (ERG 2018). However, Turkish state treats them as monolingual Arabic speakers since in the state discourse on languages in Turkey language is equated with nationality and the official language of one's country is taken to be the 'mother tongue' of the citizens. That is, no individual bi/multilingualism is recognized and/or catered for.

After the policy shift from monolingual Arabic education in TECs to monolingual Turkish education in public schools, MoNE did not ignore Arabic all together and cited the possibility of "extracurricular education programs in their [students'] own language"; however, the purpose of such programs was framed as "keeping their language and culture alive" (MoNE 2016c). This reference to keeping the language alive is reminiscent of the discourse on the language classes for minoritized languages in Turkey offered in public schools since 2012 and are called 'The Living Languages and Dialects classes'. They were carefully designed to keep the minoritized languages alive but not to serve as 'mother tongue' support classes. They are only given for 2 hours a week as elective courses and can only be elected from 5th grade onwards. Accordingly, when the Arabic language classes were initiated with the PIKTES project in 2016 ("PIKTES" 2017), they were not designed to function as first language support classes that would help the children learn the curriculum but rather as heritage classes to keep the language alive. Children whose first language may not be Arabic were, again, not taken into consideration.

While it was shown in the previous section that the decision to allow education in Arabic in the first phase was largely a result of the wider context, and despite Arabic not being the first language of all, it was still unique for the national education in Turkey to have students receiving education in their 'mother tongue' and not in Turkish. Even the minority schools operating as a result of the Lausanne Treaty cannot be argued to provide education in the 'mother tongue'. Nevertheless, TECs were still monolingual schools, even though they provided Turkish language classes. Therefore, when the policy shift required transfer into monolingual Turkish schools, there was little support to ease the transition. This means the policy assumed a replacement of one monolingual context with the other while the reality was bilingual if not more diverse.

This is not so different from how Turkey treated the education of children speaking other languages in its history. Children who had no or little Turkish proficiency have always been required to follow classes in Turkish. This model of 'submersion' education in which subjects are taught only through the second language is common in a lot of contexts where language policies do not allow for linguistic diversity in public institutions and aims for monolingualism in the school language despite research pointing out that children learn academic content better on their first language and build proficiency in the second language based on their first language (Cummins 1984), which is explained in detail below. While still aiming for monolingualism, there are also transitional bilingual programs in which the first language of the student is used as a basis to later transition into the school language (Heller 2007). The TECs might have functioned as transition schools in theory; however, the analysis so far has shown that policy decisions were motivated by various political agendas rather than any pedagogical concern. This does not mean that transitional programs are any better for children than submersion programs. It is also not the purpose of this study to evaluate the 'success' of a particular policy decision. What matters is that the decision to enroll Syrian children in Turkish schools is in line with the long established language policies and the public discourse on languages in Turkey. That is, any form of bilingualism does not fit in the institutional repertoire of public education. For that reason, the lack of resources or methodology to teach children whose language is different than the school language is not necessarily a shortcoming of the policy or a detail not taken into account. On the contrary, it is possible to say that this is a well-established policy in the Turkish education system not to take these into account. A teacher that Çelik and İçduygu (2019) cite summarizes this perfectly:

"We lack perspective to think about them, lack material to use in the courses. We experience with the Syrians students what we have experienced with Kurdish students. [...] Anyway, Turkish education has a standard strategy 'when it cannot cope; just pretend these students are not there." (262)

This example shows how the discourse of the unexpectedness and the magnitude of the human mobility legitimating certain policy decisions or 'problems in practice' only masks the fact that preparedness has already been rendered impossible through the language ideologies related to linguistic diversity embedded in public education. This is not exclusively a 'Turkish' phenomenon either. In their comparative study, Crul et al (2019) also conclude that what countries refer to as "refugee problem" in education is indeed "a problem of institutional arrangements ill prepared for immigrant children" since they do not recognize the reality of human mobility and diversity (26).

In the case of Turkey, this unpreparedness is particularly related to teacher training and resources. The circular on the Education Services for Foreign Students (2014) states that the Turkish classes in TECs could be given by Turkish language and literature teachers, primary school teachers, and foreign language teachers. Teachers in these same fields are also cited as the ones giving Turkish classes within the PIKTES project (MoNE n.d.). Besides the fact that the teacher education in these fields does not train teachers for teaching Turkish as a second language (Taskin and Erdemli 2018), the tradition of avoiding any public discussion on the linguistic diversity in the country has also prevented awareness in those training to be primary school or early childhood teachers let alone those teaching other subjects. The materials used in the language support classes are also not designed for children and for specific age groups (Karaman 2018) since Turkish as foreign language had mostly aimed adults before. As the context chapter also illustrated, the fact that Turkish is not the first language of all citizens has long been avoided in the public discourse and this impeded any pedagogical experience that Turkish institutions could have in teaching Turkish to children whose first language is different. Therefore, it is hard to say that this is a novel phenomenon that Turkey could not have been prepared for.

It is possible to see how the decision to enroll the students with little Turkish proficiency in Turkish-medium schools could not be for the best interest of the students both through examining the changing policy decisions for the refugee children only in a three year period and also by looking at the experience with Kurdish speaking children. When MoNE announced the policy to transition to public education in a press release (2016c), it stated that they would "pay attention to the number of students who have weak Turkish skills placed in each class so that they socialize with their peers and learn Turkish through experience". The policy makers themselves in the Ministry of National Education would also know that learning a language for daily communication does not mean mastering the language enough to cope with academic content. The well-known theory by Cummins (1984) differentiates between BICS (Basic Interpersonal Communication Skills) and CALP (Cognitive Academic Language Proficiency) and points out that a pupil needs a minimum of 5 years to be able to start developing CALP in a language, which means children who have just started learning Turkish cannot be expected to perform in academic content as well as their Turkish-speaker classmates do. Therefore, the MoNE should have been aware that neither socializing with friends nor the limited amount of Turkish teaching in TECs or through the PIKTES project could have prepared these children to follow curriculum in Turkish in such a short time. Not surprisingly, through a circular titled "Integration classes 2 for foreign students" (MoNE 2019) in September 2019 MoNE acknowledged that "difficulties are experienced in the integration of foreign students into the education system because of Turkish language barrier" and thus "it has been deemed suitable that integration classes to be opened to increase the integration of these students into the Turkish education system". Students would be enrolled in these classes for a maximum of two

² *Uyum Siniflari* in Turkish. The translation MoNE provides for the name of these classes is Compliance Classes . However, this is not a good translation and the word *uyum* in this context could better be translated as Integration.

semesters and they would receive 24 hours of Turkish and 6 hours of various skills classes such as arts and sports a week. (MoNE 2019).

While this new policy might seem to be an improvement of the conditions after the hasty decision to enroll children into monolingual Turkish education, a look at how monolingual education has resulted in the case of Kurdish speaking children and what problems the current policy discourse for refugee children entail could point otherwise. Monolingual education not catering for the needs of Kurdish speaking children has been found to cause higher class repetition and dropout rates for them (Gökşen, Cemalcular, and Gürlesel 2006). While it is already apparent that the refugee children will follow a similar path in academic performance (Aydin and Kaya 2019) for being denied equal access to academic resources as a result of the language barrier, the policy to teach them Turkish also adds to the inequality. One study points out the fact that by allocating more than half of the weekly classes to Turkish, the hours of other subjects are halved (Karaman 2018) and the Integration classes curriculum explained above also shows that students in those classes will not be taught any academic subjects for at least a semester. In the highly competitive education system of Turkey where mastering academic subjects is the only way to progress to secondary and tertiary education, this will clearly have serious implications as well.

Along with the obstacles to equal access to educational resources, the attitudes towards refugee students' academic experience and the discourse around achievement also show similarities to the case of Kurdish students and could have similar results. The internalized monolingual ideologies by most teachers, for instance, add to the disadvantages that the students experience. When the policies create one kind of reality that prioritizes education in Turki sh over the needs of the children, teachers might not believe they should act otherwise:

"I don't feel the need to provide something extra for him [...] Our national education is in Turkish [...] If a child who does not know Turkish is in my

classroom, I don't feel obligated to provide something extra" (Karsli-Calamak and Kilinc 2019, 12).

Even when students' struggle with Turkish curriculum is acknowledged, how this struggle is framed by the policies still aggravates the problem. The target group for the catch-up training that is provided as part of the PIKTES project, for instance, is defined as " $3^{rd} - 10^{th}$ grader Syrian students, who are academically unsuccessful, repeating a grade level or in need of academic support [...]" ("PIKTES" 2017). By citing being 'academically unsuccessful' as the explanation of grade repetition, the cause of children's struggle is attributed to their own capabilities rather than the policies which have created such conditions. The integration classes circular uses a similar language and defines the target group as those "whose Turkish language skills are insufficient" (MoNE 2019). Narrating a problem from this perspective puts the students at a position where they are substandard while it was even not realistic to expect any non-Turkish speaking student to master the language to follow academic content in such a short time. Therefore, while such problem statements in the policies might seem to be stating 'facts' and thus 'objective', such discourse of responsibilization (Newman and Clarke 2009), in fact, masks the actual responsibility of institutions and makes it possible to blame the disadvantaged for their own failure. The reflections of such approach are also apparent in teachers' narration of refugee students' academic experience. Some teachers interpret their students' Turkish performances as "not want[ing] to learn Turkish" (Taskin and Erdemli 2018, 31) or "resist[ing] speaking Turkish" (Karsli-Calamak and Kilinc 2019, 15). A similar perspective is also taken to explain the parents' role and they are believed to be "indifferent to the education of their children" (Arar, Örücü, and Ak Küçükçayir 2020, 16). Through the perception that the monolingual space of the school is the normal order of things, therefore, both the students and the parents are held responsible of their exclusion from meaningful participation in the education system.

If we are to summarize this, then, by tracing these outcomes back in the discourse, we could say that monolingual ideologies in the education policies have prevented any discussion of a multilingual pedagogy by presenting the course of action as the most logical. First, education in Arabic was deemed the most appropriate by referring to the country of origin and the probability of return. Then, the enrollment in Turkish education was shown as the best way forward to increase schooling and 'integration'. And when students could not 'succeed', they were either provided with more Turkish input which has taken away from the academic content, or labeled as insufficient or unsuccessful without problematizing the fact that it is not the students who should do more to access resources in their second language but it is the system that should be responsive to the needs of bi/multilingual students.

4.3 'Integration' and language

The first section of this chapter showed that the discourse around 'integration' only became prominent in the education policy around 2016 when the impossibility of a 'return home' in the near future was realized. Such discourse was adopted mainly after the EU-Turkey statement (European Council 2016) and inspired by the EU-funded projects targeting integration. In that sense, the use of the notion of integration denoted permanence, the acknowledgement of coexistence. An exploration of what integration refers to in the immigration policy of Turkey in general is beyond the scope of this study. However, what the education policy for refugee children means when it refers to integration and what role language has in this perception of integration will be analyzed in this section. Answers to these questions might be able to shed light on possible understandings of integration with regards to refugees as well and thus could help clarify what it means to belong.

Before the announcement of the PIKTES project, the news item MoNE released on its website on August 2016 titled "The roadmap for the education of Syrian children has been determined"

(MoNE 2016c) refers to the Turkish word *uyum* a few times in different contexts. Since it does not directly correspond to the word *integration* and thus does not come with its discursive baggage, it might be worth looking closer. The Turkish Language Institution (TDK) dictionary offers the following meanings for *uyum*: "the compatibility among the parts of a whole, harmony" and "adapting to a social environment or a situation, *entegrasyon* [Turkified version of *integration*]" ("Türk Dil Kurumu | Sözlük" n.d.). Then, this text might be referring to the adaptation of children into their new situation as well as their social integration, a term which has been critically analyzed for its use in relation to language testing regimes (Hogan-Brun, Mar-Molinero, and Stevenson 2009) and is found to be semantically vague in migration discourse at the EU level (Horner 2009) and used instead of assimilation in policy discourse while, in fact, assimilation is the long term aim (Avermaet 2009). However, before going into that specific discourse around integration, it would be helpful to see what meanings the word *uyum* connotes in the Turkish context. In the news item mentioned above, the word is mentioned in these instances:

"To ease the future transition and *uyum* (adaptation?) of the students who are currently receiving education in their own language in temporary education centers, they will be provided with intensive Turkish language instruction [...] For the purpose of ensuring the *uyum* (adaptation?) of students who are below grade level to their grade level [...] By taking into account the social and cultural *uyum* (adaptation / integration?) process, they will be encouraged to socialize" (MoNE 2016c).

In this earlier text outlining the policy, the first two uses seem to be pointing out that the students might struggle getting used to or adapting to their new schools and grade levels and the solution would be intensive Turkish courses. The last use is closer to the more common understanding of integration for being signified with 'social' and 'cultural'. Yet, it does not specify what this integration entails so this might be referring to a kind of adaptation to the new environment as well. Later documents, those outlining the PIKTES project and the Integration Classes, however, make clearer assertions regarding what they mean by integration.

The webpage detailing the EU-funded project "Promoting Integration of Syrian Children into Turkish Education System" in the EU delegation website provides the following main objectives for the project:

"The overall objective is to contribute to the access of Syrians under temporary protection to education in Turkey. The specific objective is to support the Ministry of National Education in its efforts to integrate Syrians under temporary protection into the Turkish education system" (EU Delegation to Turkey 2016).

The website for the project itself formulates the purpose slightly differently:

"The main purpose of PIKTES Project is to promote the access of children under temporary protection to education in Turkey and to support their social cohesion. In this scope, PIKTES also aims at supporting the efforts of Ministry of National Education on education and social cohesion of children under temporary protection in Turkey" ("PIKTES" 2017).

While the word *entegrasyon* is used in title of the project, the purpose statement prefers *uyum* in its Turkish version and "cohesion" in the English version. It seems that instead of adopting the word "to integrate" that the EU Delegation uses, the policy makers opted for a terminology used more commonly in Turkish. Thanks to this use, we understand that Promoting Integration of Syrian Children into Turkish Education System means "promot[ing] the access" of these children to education while also "supporting [...] social cohesion".

There are two questions worth analyzing in this: integration into what and what kind of integration. First of all, the 'integration' is supposed to be into the 'Turkish education system', that is, the access to education that the project promotes is an access to the centralized Turkish education system and not any kind of education that could be offered by independent organizations such as international NGOs or a kind of education specifically designed for the needs of these children. Since the Turkish education system only offers a centralized "monoethnic", "monoreligious", and "monolingual" curriculum which does not recognize diversity in the student body (Çelik and İçduygu 2019, 257), it is hard to imagine how the

students are expected to meaningfully access it and be a part of it. Pinson and Arnot (2007) claim that the integration process for the "refugee and asylum-seeking children" in education is some kind of "litmus test in terms of social inclusion" (406). That is, what is expected of them in terms of integration would show us what a society is ready and not ready to include and what role education has in this. PIKTES project tells us that education in Turkey aims at sameness and is ready to include those who make an effort to be the same. Accordingly, the social cohesion aspect among the project objectives also points to an effort from the refugee students' side to be a part of this homogenous whole rather than opening up a space where they can exist with their differences.

Proficiency in Turkish language stands out as the most crucial criterion for this later policy. The integration classes that the policy introduced in the 2019-2020 academic year spells this out clearly:

"It is imperative that the integration (*uyum*) of the foreign children currently in public schools to the society and the education system be improved. There are difficulties in the integration (*uyum*) of foreign students into the education system because of the Turkish language barrier. It has been deemed suitable that integration classes be opened in order to improve the integration (*uyum*) of these students into the Turkish education system" (MoNE 2019).

Similar to PIKTES, these classes also refer to the integration both to the society and the education system. This statement seems to argue that it is their level of Turkish which defines to what extent they have become a part of the society and the education system. The problem here is, however, not whether one is able to communicate with others in their new social environment but rather the fact that they are expected to master it. In many migrant receiving countries, it has been the dominant discourse that language proficiency is key to integration (Hogan-Brun, Mar-Molinero, and Stevenson 2009; Duchêne, Moyer, and Roberts 2013) and more often than not "the distinct process of 'language learning' is conflated with that of 'language testing'" (Horner 2009, 124), that is how well a person has mastered a language has

been a criterion for 'integration'. However, when those who have newly arrived are required to master the language to be able to benefit public services, particularly education, language functions more as a tool for exclusion and a gate-keeping mechanism than as a means to be 'included'. The Integration Classes Circular (MoNE 2019) specifies that the classes are intended for those students receiving below 60 in the Turkish Proficiency Test. This will mean that, then, those who do not perform in these classes, which predominantly aims Turkish training, as well as the policy specifies will be labelled as 'not integrated'.

Along with the implications of setting language proficiency as a threshold for a vague concept such as integration, this approach to 'integration' through language learning is also reproducing a monolingual ideology that the previous section has detailed. Since the norm is the monolingual education and monolingual schools, any policy move which seemingly aims to "improve the integration" (MoNE 2019) focuses on what the students do to "accommodate monolingual school contexts" rather than, for instance, what teachers could do "to extend their linguistic repertoires" (Chang-Bacon 2020, 11) or how they could be trained in the methods of teaching a multilingual class population. This specific understanding of integration is one-way and places the responsibility on the children.

As several policy documents and in general the discourse of the policy indicate, learning Turkish is seen as a prerequisite not only of being a part of the education system but of "social cohesion" ("PIKTES" 2017) as well. This also follows from a monolingual ideology or what Blommaert and Verschueren (1992) calls "the dogma of homogeneism", that is, the belief that "the ideal model of society is mono-lingual, mono-ethnic, mono-religious, mono-ideological" (362). Even though this has been the ideal of the state in Turkey as well, it is also a fact that the society is not 'mono' and definitely not 'monolingual'. At least 15 % of the population stated their first language was not Turkish in 2006 (KONDA 2006). Then, it is possible for

many refugees to socialize and participate in daily life using various other languages and not necessarily Turkish. In that sense, social cohesion for refugee children should not depend on how well they speak the national language. This understanding of integration through Turkish is also problematic since it strengthens the belief, as in the school context, that integration requires the "unilateral effort of the incoming minority" and it is almost never used to refer to the "integration of migrants and the indigenous population", that is, to a mutual effort (Mar-Molinero and Stevenson 2006).

A final aspect related to integration, which is not directly related to the language and education policies but has implications for it, is the contradiction between the temporary status and *de facto* permanence. While policies have evolved in the last decade from a temporary accommodation to a large-scale integration, the legal status of those that the policies have targeted has not changed. Therefore, despite the impossibility of knowing the future prospects for one's family because of the limitations that the temporary status presents, children were given no choice but to be 'integrated' into Turkish society. That is, refugee families and thus children were not allowed to have a voice in the decisions taken on their behalf. It is, for that reason, contradictory that learning the language is presented as the key to integration while their legal status prevents them from having a say in their own future or about the society they are expected to be a part of.

In short, the policy of integration entered the public agenda only after the EU-Turkey Deal, which ruled out the possibility for most Syrian refugees to seek a future elsewhere, and through the EU-funded projects such as PIKTES. By positing education in the monolingual Turkish education system as the only path for integration, the policies are, in fact, excluding the refugee children. Rather than supporting the children to learn the common language while allowing their linguistic diversity to be an asset for them to 'access quality education', this path presents

speaking the same language as the only way to receive education and be a legitimate member of the society. Quite similar to the approach to Muslim non-Turkish minorities in the history of Turkey, 'integration' through language is deemed to be achievable by the policy makers since the refugees are already approached as Muslim brothers by the government. However, considering their disadvantaged position in education analyzed in the previous section, it is hard to imagine whether 'integration' is ever possible.

4.4 Conclusion of the Analysis

The analysis of the policy discourse has demonstrated that even though the discourse around temporariness which dominated the earlier policy making has later shifted into one of integration as a result of the changes in context, the underlying monolingual ideologies have remained constant and manifested themselves through both discourses. While this shows that policies targeting refugees and their discourse have been highly influenced by the global developments and discourses, how the issue has been locally handled has much to do with the history and the sociopolitical context in Turkey. It can also be concluded that any policy targeting the education of refugee children will eventually lead to inequality as long as the monolingual ideologies in education policies are left unquestioned.

Conclusion

In almost ten years since 2011 when the first group of refugees from Syria settled in camps in the border cities of Turkey, there have been various policy decisions and shifts in policy regarding the education of refugee children. This was mainly because Turkey had not experienced such a large-scale migration before and it did not have established education and language policies for newcomers. Therefore, this was a unique period to observe how education policies in a migration context were formulated and to critically analyze their possible effects. Against this background, this research aimed to understand how the education policies for Syrian refugee children have been shaped by both the global context and the monolingual ideologies in Turkey and whether the policy discourse could lead to linguistic and social inequalities for these children. The research was informed by a critical approach to policy and thus looked into the policies as texts and discourses framing issues in particular ways and having a role in the reproduction of inequalities. Particularly the language policy was taken as a reflection of language ideologies, that is, of beliefs about linguistic practices and the role of languages in public sphere. Therefore, the potential of language policy to (re)produce hierarchies was acknowledged. By approaching policy as a discourse on the issues it targets, the research made use of the methods of Critical Discourse Analysis and the Discourse Historical Approach, which are based on the notion of discourse as a social act and thus as a phenomenon to be analyzed for its possible effects on the social order.

The analysis, indeed, evidenced the basic premises of critical and discursive approaches to policy by showing how the policy language created categories and used argumentations related to temporariness, mass movement, and emergency at first and later to integration in order to justify policy moves. Most often, phrases referring to the right to education were used to mask the politically motivated and contextually embedded nature of the policies in question. Despite

the clear discursive shift from temporariness to integration and the contradictions in policy decisions from 'no need to learn Turkish' to 'obliged to learn Turkish' in a short period of time, the policy language proposed each step as the most logical way forward. One constant feature underlying all, however, was the monolingualism ideology even though how the refugee education is handled seems to have changed. The conviction that public services should only be provided in the national language informed both the earlier policy of education in Arabic for repatriation and the later policy of education in Turkish for integration. Even when Arabic and Turkish language support was given, these were never intended to be used together as a medium of instruction. Even though for the first time in the public education system in Turkey there are schools providing education in the first language of children³, these segregate rather than prepare children for a possible future in Turkey. Through references to the experiences of Kurdish-speaking children and to the studies conducted in schools refugee children attend, it was concluded that such an approach is putting children into a disadvantaged position in education while depicting the problem as one of academic performance rather than of policy. This alone shows that monolingualism is the common sense of the policy makers and assimilating into a single language is the only alternative proposed for 'integration'.

The conclusions that this study has drawn have implications for studies of nationalism and migration as well. The case analyzed here has revealed that while national policies regarding human mobility are highly connected to global politics and discourses, fundamental rights of refugees and migrants are not truly protected by a global understanding of human rights but most often curtailed because of the state sovereignty principle in all international/supranational organizations and conventions, which allows for a basic right like right to education to be recontextualized and interpreted by each nation state.

²

³ The schools for Armenian, Greek, and Jewish communities operating as a result of the Lausanne Treaty are not public schools.

The scope of this research was limited to an analysis of the policy discourse and could not include an ethnographic study scrutinizing the reflections of such discourse in the school context among teachers, parents, and students. A further study exploring whether policy discourse dominates school and classroom practices or whether there is room for contestation could illustrate the role of the agency of such actors in how the policy is experienced. An ethnographic study problematizing policy discourse could also have an emancipatory effect for leading the actors to question the taken-for-grantedness of monolingual education policies.

References

- AFAD. 2016. "Suriyeli Misafirlerimiz Kardeş Topraklarında." https://www.afad.gov.tr/suriyeraporlari.
- Akyuz, Burcu Meltem Arik. 2018. Migration, Displacement and Education: Building Bridges, Not Walls: Evolution of National Policy in Turkey on Integration of Syrian Children into the National Education System. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization.
- Anadolu Ajansı. 2012. "Oyunun Kuralı Değişmemeli." July 31, 2012. https://www.aa.com.tr/tr/egitim/oyunun-kurali-degismemeli/351161.
- ——. 2014. "Yeni Göç Dalgaları Kapıda." November 25, 2014. https://www.aa.com.tr/tr/politika/yeni-goc-dalgalari-kapida/98227.
- Anderson, Benedict R. 1983. *Imagined Communities: Reflections on the Origin and Spread of Nationalism*. Verso.
- Arar, Khalid, Deniz Örücü, and Gülnur Ak Küçükçayir. 2020. "A Holistic Look at Education of the Syrians under Temporary Protection in Turkey: Policy, Leadership and Practice." *International Journal of Leadership in Education* 23 (1): 7–23. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603124.2019.1603401.
- Aslan, Şükrü, Sibel Yardimci, Murat Arpaci, and Öykü Gürpinar. 2015. "Türkiye'nin Etnik Coğrafyası: 1927–1965 Ana Dil Haritaları." https://avesis.ebyu.edu.tr/yayin/8c88d25d-7175-4b91-aab2-a78ff8ef5eff/turkiyenin-etnik-cografyasi-19271965-ana-dil-haritalari.
- Avermaet, Piet van. 2009. "Fortress Europe? Language Policy Regimes for Immigration and Citizenship." In *Discourses on Language and Integration: Critical Perspectives on Language Testing Regimes in Europe*, edited by Gabrielle Hogan-Brun, Clare Mar-Molinero, and Patrick Stevenson, 15–43. Amsterdam: Benjamins.
- Aydin, Hasan, and Yeliz Kaya. 2019. "Education for Syrian Refugees: The New Global Issue Facing Teachers and Principals in Turkey." *Educational Studies* 55 (1): 46–71. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131946.2018.1561454.
- Baban, Feyzi, Suzan Ilcan, and Kim Rygiel. 2017. "Playing Border Politics with Urban Syrian Refugees." *Movements Journal for Critical Migration and Border Regime Studies* 3 (2): 81–102.
- Baker, Colin. 2011. Foundations of Bilingual Education and Bilingualism. Multilingual Matters.

- Balçik, Mehmet Berk. 2009. "Formations and Transformations of Language Regimes: Turkey, a Case Study." Sabanci University.
- Balkar, Betül, Sevilay Şahin, and Nur Işıklı Babahan. 2016. "Problems Confronted by Syrian Teachers Working at Temporary Education Centers (TECs)." *Journal of Theory and Practice in Education* 12 (6): 1290–1310.
- Ball, Stephen J. 1993. "What Is Policy? Texts, Trajectories and Toolboxes." *Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education* 13 (2): 10–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/0159630930130203.
- Barakos, Elisabeth, and Johann W. Unger, eds. 2016. *Discursive Approaches to Language Policy*. London: Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-53134-6.
- Bauman, Richard, and Charles L Briggs. 2003. *Voices of Modernity: Language Ideologies and the Politics of Inequality*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Bayar, Yeşim. 2011. "The Trajectory of Nation-Building through Language Policies: The Case of Turkey during the Early Republic (1920–38)." *Nations and Nationalism* 17 (1): 108–28. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8129.2010.00484.x.
- BEKAM. 2015. "Suriyeli Misafirlere Yönelik Sosyal Uyum ve Eğitim Müfredatları Çalışması Raporu." https://www.mevka.org.tr/Yukleme/Uploads/DsyMjCrtL717201741911PM.pdf.
- Bianet. 2009. "UNESCO: Türkiye'de 15 Dil Tehlikede." February 20, 2009. http://www.bianet.org/bianet/bilim/112702-unesco-turkiye-de-15-dil-tehlikede.
- Bircan, Tuba, and Ulaş Sunata. 2015. "Educational Assessment of Syrian Refugees in Turkey." MIGRATION LETTERS 12 (3): 226–37. https://doi.org/10.33182/ml.v12i3.276.
- Blackledge, Adrian. 2000. "Monolingual Ideologies in Multilingual States: Language, Hegemony and Social Justice in Western Liberal Democracies." *Sociolinguistic Studies* 1 (2): 2342. https://doi.org/10.1558/sols.v1i2.25.
- Blommaert, Jan, and Jef Verschueren. 1992. "The Role of Language in European Nationalist Ideologies." *Pragmatics* 2 (3): 355–75. https://doi.org/10.1075/prag.2.3.13blo.
- Çelik, Çetin, and Ahmet İçduygu. 2019. "Schools and Refugee Children: The Case of Syrians in Turkey." *International Migration* 57 (2): 253–67. https://doi.org/10.1111/imig.12488.
- Chang-Bacon, Chris K. 2020. "Who's Being 'Sheltered?': How Monolingual Language Ideologies Are Produced within Education Policy Discourse and Sheltered English Immersion." *Critical Studies in Education*, February, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/17508487.2020.1720259.
- Cin, F. Melis, and Necmettin Doğan. 2020. "Navigating University Spaces as Refugees: Syrian Students' Pathways of Access to and through Higher Education in Turkey." *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, January, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2019.1707309.

- Clarke, John, Dave Bainton, Noémi Lendvai, and Paul Stubbs. 2015. *Making Policy Move: Towards a Politics of Translation and Assemblage*. Policy Press.
- Çolak, Yılmaz. 2004. "Language Policy and Official Ideology in Early Republican Turkey." *Middle Eastern Studies* 40 (6): 67–91.
- Crul, Maurice, Frans Lelie, Özge Biner, Nihad Bunar, Elif Keskiner, Ifigenia Kokkali, Jens Schneider, and Maha Shuayb. 2019. "How the Different Policies and School Systems Affect the Inclusion of Syrian Refugee Children in Sweden, Germany, Greece, Lebanon and Turkey." *Comparative Migration Studies* 7 (1): 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40878-018-0110-6.
- Cummins, Jim. 1984. Bilingualism and Special Education: Issues in Assessment and Pedagogy. Multilingual Matters.
- ——. 1986. "Empowering Minority Students: A Framework for Intervention." *Harvard Educational Review* 56 (1): 18–37. https://doi.org/10.17763/haer.56.1.b327234461607787.
- DGMM. 2005. "İltica ve Göç Alanındaki Avrupa Birliği Müktesebatının Üstlenilmesine Ilişkin Türkiye Ulusal Eylem Planı." https://www.goc.gov.tr/kurumlar/goc.gov.tr/yonetmelikler/Temel-Belgeler/Iltica-Ve-Goc-Ulusal-Eylem-Plani.pdf.
- ———. 2013. "Yabancılar ve uluslararası koruma kanunu [Law on foreigners and international protection]." mevzuat.gov.tr/MevzuatMetin/1.5.6458.pdf.
- ———. 2020a. "Avrupa Birliğinde Geçici Koruma." 2020. https://www.goc.gov.tr/avrupa-birliginde-gecici-koruma.
- Duchêne, Alexandre, Melissa G. Moyer, and Celia Roberts. 2013. *Language, Migration and Social Inequalities: A Critical Sociolinguistic Perspective on Institutions and Work*. Language, Mobility and Institutions. Multilingual Matters.
- Emin, Müberra Nur. 2016. "Türkiye'deki Suriyeli çocukların eğitimi." SETA.
- ERG. 2018. "Bir Arada Yaşamı ve Geleceği Kapsayıcı Eğitimle İnşa Etmek."
- EU Delegation to Turkey. 2016. "Promoting Integration of Syrian Children into Turkish Education System." 2016. https://www.avrupa.info.tr/en/project/promoting-integration-syrian-children-turkish-education-system-7010.
- Euronews. 2019. "Bakan Soylu: Çocuklar dahil 92 bin Suriyeliye vatandaşlık verildi." August 2, 2019. https://tr.euronews.com/2019/08/02/bakan-soylu-92-bin-suriyeliye-vatandaslik-verildi-suleyman-soylu.
- European Commission. 2001. "Directive on Temporary Protection." https://doi.org/10.5040/9781782257615.

- ——. 2015. "EU-Turkey Joint Action Plan." https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/MEMO_15_5860.
- European Council. 2016. "EU-Turkey Statement." March 18, 2016. http://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2016/03/18/eu-turkey-statement/.
- Fairclough, Norman. 1995. Critical Discourse Analysis: The Critical Study of Language. Language in Social Life Series. Harlow: Longman.
- Fishman, Joshua A. 1973. *Language and Nationalism: Two Integrative Essays*. Rowley, Mass: Newbury House Publishers.
- ——. 1991. Reversing Language Shift: Theoretical and Empirical Foundations of Assistance to Threatened Languages. Multilingual Matters.
- Fishman, Joshua A., Charles A. Ferguson, and Jyotirindra Dasgupta. 1968. *Language Problems of Developing Nations*. New York: Wiley.
- Gal, Susan. 2006. "Migration, Minorities and Multilingualism." In *Language Ideologies, Policies and Practices: Language and the Future of Europe*, edited by Clare Mar-Molinero, and Patrick Stevenson, 13–28. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Gazeteduvar. 2020. "Anadilde eğitim isteyen 90 kişiye hapis cezası." February 18, 2020. https://www.gazeteduvar.com.tr/gundem/2020/02/18/anadilde-egitim-talep-eden-90-kisiye-5er-ay-hapis-cezasi/.
- Gerrard, Jessica. 2017. "The Refugee Crisis, Non-Citizens, Border Politics and Education." Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education 38 (6): 880–91. https://doi.org/10.1080/01596306.2016.1227959.
- Gezer, Melike Ünal. 2019. "Looking Through the Multicultural Glass: Re-Examination of Syrian Refugee Children Education in Turkey." *Eurasian Journal of Applied Linguistics* 5 (2): 303–22. https://doi.org/10.32601/ejal.599275.
- Gökşen, Fatoş, Zeynep Cemalcılar, and Can Fuat Gürlesel. 2006. "Türkiyede İlköğretim Okullarında Okulu Terk ve İzlenmesi Ile Önlenmesine Yönelik Politikalar." http://www.egitimreformugirisimi.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/T%C3%BCrkiyede-%C4%B0lk%C3%B6%C4%9Freti-Okullar%C4%B1nda-Okulu-Terk-ve-%C4%B0zlenmesi-ile-%C3%96nlenmesine-Y%C3%B6nelik-Politikalar_0.pdf.
- Habertürk. 2014. "Erdoğan: Kobani düştü düşecek!" October 7, 2014. https://www.haberturk.com/gundem/haber/997321-erdogan-kobani-dustu-dusecek.
- Heller, Monica, ed. 2007. *Bilingualism: A Social Approach*. London: Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230596047.
- Hobsbawm, Eric J. 1992. *Nations and Nationalism since 1780: Programme, Myth, Reality*. Cambridge University Press.

- Hogan-Brun, Gabrielle, Clare Mar-Molinero, and Patrick Stevenson, eds. 2009. *Discourses on Language and Integration: Critical Perspectives on Language Testing Regimes in Europe*. Discourse Approaches to Politics, Society and Culture 33. Amsterdam: Benjamins.
- Hornberger, Nancy H. 1998. "Language Policy, Language Education, Language Rights: Indigenous, Immigrant, and International Perspectives." *Language in Society* 27 (4): 439–58. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0047404500020182.
- Horner, Kristine. 2009. "Language, Citizenship and Europeanization: Unpacking the Discourse of Integration." In *Discourse Approaches to Politics, Society and Culture*, edited by Gabrielle Hogan-Brun, Clare Mar-Molinero, and Patrick Stevenson, 33:109–28. Amsterdam: John Benjamins Publishing Company. https://doi.org/10.1075/dapsac.33.10hor.
- Hult, Francis M. 2004. "Planning for Multilingualism and Minority Language Rights in Sweden." *Language Policy* 3 (2): 181–201. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:LPOL.0000036182.40797.23.
- ——. 2005. "A Case of Prestige and Status Planning: Swedish and English in Sweden." *Current Issues in Language Planning* 6 (1): 73–79. https://doi.org/10.1080/14664200508668274.
- ——. 2010. "Analysis of Language Policy Discourses across the Scales of Space and Time." *International Journal of the Sociology of Language* 2010 (202). https://doi.org/10.1515/ijsl.2010.011.
- Hürriyet. 2015. "Yaşayan Diller ve Lehçeler Dersini 85 Bin Öğrenci Seçti." January 25, 2015. https://www.hurriyet.com.tr/egitim/yasayan-diller-ve-lehceler-dersini-85-bin-ogrenci-secti-28045465.
- Hyatt, David. 2013. "The Critical Policy Discourse Analysis Frame: Helping Doctoral Students Engage with the Educational Policy Analysis." *Teaching in Higher Education* 18 (8): 833–45. https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2013.795935.
- Içduygu, Ahmet, and Evin Millet. 2016. "Syrian Refugees in Turkey: Insecure Lives in an Environment of Pseudo-Integration." *Global Turkey in Europe*, no. 13.
- Içduygu, Ahmet, and Maissam Nimer. 2020. "The Politics of Return: Exploring the Future of Syrian Refugees in Jordan, Lebanon and Turkey." *Third World Quarterly* 41 (3): 415–33. https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2019.1675503.
- International Crisis Group. 2016. "Turkey's Refugee Crisis: The Politics of Permanence." 241.
- Johnson, David Cassels. 2009. "Ethnography of Language Policy." *Language Policy* 8 (2): 139–59. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10993-009-9136-9.
- Karaman, Sedat. 2018. "Eğitim hakkının korunması açısından PICTES projesinin değerlendirilmesi." Maltepe University.

- Karsli-Calamak, Elif, and Sultan Kilinc. 2019. "Becoming the Teacher of a Refugee Child: Teachers' Evolving Experiences in Turkey." *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, December, 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2019.1707307.
- KONDA. 2006. "Toplumsal Yapi Arastirmasi. Biz Kimiz?" https://konda.com.tr/tr/rapor/biz-kimiz-toplumsal-yapi-arastirmasi/.
- Kroskrity, Paul V. 2000. *Regimes of Language: Ideologies, Polities, and Identities*. School of American Research Press.
- Krzyżanowski, Michał, and Ruth Wodak. 2011. "Political Strategies and Language Policies: The European Union Lisbon Strategy and Its Implications for the EU's Language and Multilingualism Policy." *Language Policy* 10 (2): 115–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10993-011-9196-5.
- Lawton, Rachele. 2016. "A Critical Integrated Approach to Language Policy as Discursive Action: Strengths, Challenges, and Opportunities." In *Discursive Approaches to Language Policy*, edited by Elisabeth Barakos and Johann W. Unger, 105–27. London: Palgrave Macmillan UK.
- Levinson, Bradley A. U., Margaret Sutton, and Teresa Winstead. 2009. "Education Policy as a Practice of Power: Theoretical Tools, Ethnographic Methods, Democratic Options." *Educational Policy* 23 (6): 767–95. https://doi.org/10.1177/0895904808320676.
- Lewis, Geoffrey. 1999. The Turkish Language Reform: A Catastrophic Success. OUP Oxford.
- Mar-Molinero, Clare, and Patrick Stevenson, eds. 2006. *Language Ideologies, Policies and Practices: Language and the Future of Europe*. Language and Globalization. Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230523883.
- McCarthy, Aslihan Tezel. 2018. "Politics of Refugee Education: Educational Administration of the Syrian Refugee Crisis in Turkey." *Journal of Educational Administration and History* 50 (3): 223–38. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220620.2018.1440541.
- MEEM. 2018. "Geçici Koruma Altındaki Öğrencilerin Eğitim Hizmetleri [Education Services for Students under Temporary Protection]." http://hbogm.meb.gov.tr/.
- ——. 2020. "Report." https://hbogm.meb.gov.tr/meb_iys_dosyalar/2020_01/27110237_OCAK_2020interne t_BulteniSunu.pdf.
- Menz, Astrid, and Christoph Schroeder. 2006. *Türkiye'de dil tartışmaları*. İstanbul Bilgi Üniversitesi Yayınları.
- Milliyet. 2012. "Yaşayan Diller ve Lehçeler dersi." Milliyet. 2012. https://www.milliyet.com.tr/egitim/yasayan-diller-ve-lehceler-dersi-1607246.
- Ministry of Labor and Social Security. 2016. "Geçici Koruma Sağlanan Yabancıların Çalışma Izinlerine Dair Yönetmelik [Regulation on the Work Permits of Foreigners under Temporary Protection." https://www.mevzuat.gov.tr/MevzuatMetin/3.5.20168375.pdf.

- Minority Rights Group. 2007. "A Quest for Equality: Minorities in Turkey." December 2007. https://minorityrights.org/publications/a-quest-for-equality-minorities-in-turkey-december-2007/.
- MoNE. 2014. "Yabancılara Yönelik Eğitim Öğretim Hizmetleri [Education Services for Foreigners]." http://mevzuat.meb.gov.tr/dosyalar/1715.pdf.
- ——. 2015. "2015-2019 Stratejik Plan [2015-2019 Strategic Plan]." http://sgb.meb.gov.tr/meb_iys_dosyalar/2015_09/10052958_10.09.2015sp17.15imzas z.pdf.
- ——. 2016a. "İlköğretim Arapça Dersi Öğretim Programı [Primary School Arabic Classes Curriculum]."
 - https://dogm.meb.gov.tr/meb_iys_dosyalar/2016_12/02045520_kurul.pdf.
- ———. 2016b. "Göç ve Acil Durum Eğitim Daire Başkanlığı [Migration and Emergency Education Management]." May 25, 2016. http://hbogm.meb.gov.tr/www/goc-ve-acil-durum-egitim-daire-baskanligi/icerik/497.
- ———. 2016c. "Suriyeli Çocukların Eğitimi Için Yol Haritası Belirlendi [The Roadmap for the Education of Syrian Children Has Been Determined]." August 22, 2016. http://www.meb.gov.tr/suriyeli-cocuklarin-egitimi-icin-yol-haritasi-belirlendi/haber/11750/tr.
- ———. 2018. "2018 Yılı İzleme Değerlendirme Raporu [2018 Monitoring and Evaluation Report]."
 - $http://hbogm.meb.gov.tr/dosyalar/izlemedegerlendirmerapor/2018/mobile/index.html\ \#p=72.$
- ———. 2019. "MEB'den yabancı öğrenciler için uyum sınıfı genelgesi [MoNE Circular on the integration classes for foreign students]." Memurlar.Net. September 6, 2019. https://www.memurlar.net/haber/855793/meb-den-yabanci-ogrenciler-icin-uyum-sinifi-genelgesi.html.
- ——. 2019. "Yabancı Öğrenciler Uyum Sınıfları [Integration Classes for Foreign Students]." http://mevzuat.meb.gov.tr/dosyalar/2022.pdf.
- ——. n.d. "Sıkça Sorulan Sorular [Frequently Asked Questions]." Accessed May 18, 2020. https://www.meb.gov.tr/sss.php.
- Newman, Janet, and John Clarke. 2009. *Publics, Politics and Power: Remaking the Public in Public Services*. Reprinted. Los Angeles: SAGE.
- Panagiotopoulou, Julie A., and Lisa Rosen. 2018. "Denied Inclusion of Migration-Related Multilingualism: An Ethnographic Approach to a Preparatory Class for Newly Arrived Children in Germany." *Language and Education* 32 (5): 394–409. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500782.2018.1489829.
- "PIKTES." 2017. https://piktes.gov.tr/Home/IndexENG.

- 2018. "Suriyeli Çocukların Türk Eğitim Sistemine Entegrasyonunun Desteklenmesi Projesi II (PIKTES II) Sözleşmesi İmzalandı [PIKTES II Is Signed]." December 21, 2018. https://piktes.gov.tr/Haberler/Details/152.
- Pinson, Halleli, and Madeleine Arnot. 2007. "Sociology of Education and the Wasteland of Refugee Education Research." *British Journal of Sociology of Education* 28 (3): 399–407. https://doi.org/10.1080/01425690701253612.
- Pujolar, Joan. 2010. "Immigration and Language Education in Catalonia: Between National and Social Agendas." *Linguistics and Education* 21 (3): 229–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.linged.2009.10.004.
- Regmi, Kapil Dev. 2019. "Critical Policy Sociology: Key Underlying Assumptions and Their Implications for Educational Policy Research." *International Journal of Research & Method in Education* 42 (1): 59–75. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2017.1398228.
- Republic of Turkey. 2014. "Geçici Koruma Yönetmeliği [Regulation on Temporary Protection]." https://www.mevzuat.gov.tr/Metin.Aspx?MevzuatKod=3.5.20146883&MevzuatIliski =0&sourceXmlSearch=ge%C3%A7ici%20koruma.
- Sabah. 2012. "Kürtçe seçmeli ders eğitimi başladı." Sabah. October 3, 2012. https://www.sabah.com.tr/egitim/2012/10/03/kurtce-secmeli-ders-egitimi-basladi.
- Sadoğlu, Hüseyin. 2003. *Türkiye'de ulusçuluk ve dil politikaları*. İstanbul Bilgi Üniversitesi Yayınları.
- Schieffelin, Bambi B., Kathryn A. Woolard, and Paul V. Kroskrity. 1998. *Language Ideologies: Practice and Theory*. Oxford University Press.
- Shore, Cris, Susan Wright, and Davide Però, eds. 2011. *Policy Worlds: Anthropology and the Analysis of Contemporary Power*. Berghahn Books. www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt9qcrhn.
- Skutnabb-Kangas, Dr Tove, Prof Robert Phillipson, Prof Ajit K. Mohanty, and Minati Panda. 2009. *Social Justice through Multilingual Education*. Multilingual Matters.
- Sülükçü, Yusuf, and Orhan Savaş. 2018. "Evaluation of the Program Regarding PICTES Turkish Proficiency and Scale Development Workshop Report." *Erciyes Journal of Education* 2 (2): 59–74.
- Taskin, Pelin, and Ozge Erdemli. 2018. "Education for Syrian Refugees: Problems Faced by Teachers in Turkey." *Eurasian Journal of Educational Research*, no. 75: 155–78.
- Tazzioli, Martina, and Nicholas De Genova, eds. 2016. "Europe / Crisis: Introducing New Keywords of 'the Crisis' in and of 'Europe." *Near Futures Online*, 1–45.
- TCBB. 2016. "Presidency of The Republic Of Turkey: President Erdoğan Shares Fast-Breaking Dinner with Refugees in Kilis." July 2, 2016. https://www.tccb.gov.tr/en/news/542/45576/suriyeli-kardeslerimize-vatandaslik-imkni-verecegiz.html.

- Tollefson, James W. 1991. *Planning Language, Planning Inequality: Language Policy in the Community*. Longman.
- Tollefson, James W., and Miguel Pérez-Milans. 2018. *The Oxford Handbook of Language Policy and Planning*. Oxford University Press.
- "Türk Dil Kurumu | Sözlük." n.d. Accessed May 25, 2020. https://sozluk.gov.tr/.
- UNHCR. 2019. "Situation Syria Regional Refugee Response: Durable Solutions." 2019. https://data2.unhcr.org/en/situations/syria_durable_solutions.
- Unutulmaz, K. Onur. 2019. "Turkey's Education Policies towards Syrian Refugees: A Macrolevel Analysis." *International Migration* 57 (2): 235–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/imig.12476.
- Uyan-Semerci, Pınar, and Emre Erdoğan. 2018. "Who Cannot Access Education? Difficulties of Being a Student for Children from Syria in Turkey." *Vulnerable Children and Youth Studies* 13 (1): 30–45. https://doi.org/10.1080/17450128.2017.1372654.
- Vertovec, Steven. 2007. "Super-Diversity and Its Implications." *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 30 (6): 1024–54. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870701599465.
- Wodak, Ruth, and Salomi Boukala. 2015. "(Supra)National Identity and Language: Rethinking National and European Migration Policies and the Linguistic Integration of Migrants." *Annual Review of Applied Linguistics* 35 (March): 253–73. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0267190514000294.
- Wodak, Ruth, and Michał Krzyżanowski. 2008. *Qualitative Discourse Analysis in the Social Sciences*. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Wodak, Ruth, and Michael Meyer. 2001. *Methods of Critical Discourse Analysis*. Introducing Qualitative Methods. SAGE.
- Woolard, Kathryn A., and Bambi B. Schieffelin. 1994. "Language Ideology." *Annual Review of Anthropology* 23 (1): 55–82. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.an.23.100194.000415.
- Wright, Susan, and Cris Shore, eds. 2003. *Anthropology of Policy: Critical Perspectives on Governance and Power*. Routledge. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1525/an.2006.47.8.22.
- Yanow, Dvora. 2000. *Conducting Interpretive Policy Analysis*. 2455 Teller Road, Thousand Oaks California 91320 United States of America: SAGE Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412983747.